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Corporate Information

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Managing Director)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon
Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin

Company Secretary

Ms. Tong On Ni

Authorized Representatives

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie

Audit Committee
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan*

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon
Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin

Nomination Committee
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie*

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon”

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

*  Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
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Tricor Investor Services Limited
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Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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Head Office and Principal Place of
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Financial Highlights

MBRE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+t—BHLHEE

2025 2024 Change
—E-RFE —ZTMF -]
HK$°000 HK$’'000 %
FET FET
Revenue =E - 465,170 484,763 -4.0%
Gross Profit EF 11,635 39,534 -70.6%
Gross Profit% EFI=E 2.5% 8.2%
Net Loss FE1E (96,136) (69,131) 39.1%
Net Loss% FEEE -20.7% -14.3%
HK cents HK cents %
Bl JEN
Loss per share SREE (28.9) (20.8) 38.9%
Dividend Per Share — Interim FARE — " HA 2 2
Dividend Per Share — IR S —
Interim special AR R - 13
Dividend Per Share — Final FRRAR B — K H - 2
Dividend Per Share — Special TR B — 5 - 13
Dividend Per Share — Total BRRE — 425 2 30 -93.3%
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2025 2024 Change
—E-RE ZTIMF -]
Notes Days Days
HaF x x
Inventories Turnover Days FEREXH *1 32 32 (0)
Trade Receivables Turnover Days [EUE 5 B8R 3% B 42 K &1 2 71 69 2
Trade Payables Turnover Days JENESERRAEXH *3 45 44 1
Gearing Ratio EEABLER 4 0.8% 1.2% -0.4%
Return on Equity % Bk #E 75 (O] 5 R £5) -12.1% -7.4% -4.7%
“1.  Inventories turnover days is equal to the average of the opening 1. GFERAEXSESRBEYERBRFE O
and closing inventories divided by the cost of sales and multiplied BRIASHER A BERNAEFRE
by the number of days for the year
*2. Trade receivables turnover days is equal to trade receivables 2. BUREFIERFEXHBEENE S EURERR
divided by the revenue and multiplied by the number of days for MRUAEEERRNEZFRE
the year
*3.  Trade Payable turnover days is equal to trade payables divided by 3. ERNESEAAEXRBESERENESEXR
the cost of sales and multiplied by the number of days for the year BRIASHERR A BRADFRE
*4.  Gearing ratio is equal to the total borrowings divided by the equity 4, BEABGBLEDNREEEGERIARR#ER
*5.  Return on Equity is equal to the net loss after tax for the year 5. BREEZOREESENATEEER AR

divided by the average of opening and closing equity
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Letter to Shareholders

Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s sales turnover
decreased by 4% to HK$465.2 million (2024: HK$484.8 million)
and the consolidated net loss was HK$96.1 million (2024:
HK$69.1 million). Basic loss per share of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025 was HK28.9 cents (2024: HK20.8 cents).
The Board of Directors has resolved not to recommend any final
dividend (2024: final dividend of HK2 cents and special dividend
of HK13 cents) at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. With
the interim dividend of HK2 cents paid in January this year, the
total dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 is HK2 cents per
share (2024: HK30 cents).

Business Review

The Group is engaged in design, manufacturing and trading of a
wide range of household electrical appliances.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, business environment
continued to be unpredictable, challenging and difficult. Global
economy continued to be plagued by high inflation, high interest
rates, geopolitical conflicts in Russia-Ukraine and the Middle
East and US-China tension. Consumer sentiments remained
sluggish and our customers had been extremely cautious in their
In addition, competition
within the industry had been very intense. Sales turnover

purchasing and inventory monitoring.

decreased by 4% to HK$465.2 million. Sales turnover to America
decreased by 8% to HK$296.6 million representing 64% of the
Group’s sales turnover. Sales turnover to Europe decreased by
41% to HK$68.9 million representing 15% of the Group’s sales
turnover. The significant drop in sales turnover to Europe was
mainly due to a change in sales destination from Europe to China
for one specific customer. Sales turnover to Asia increased by
121% to HK$81.3 million representing 17% of the Group’s sales
turnover. Sales turnover to other markets increased by 127% to
HK$18.3 million representing 4% of the Group’s sales turnover.

BRI R BR 1

EEENWED I
HEZZ-_RAF=-A=-+—RHALFE  ~5£H
ZIHEEETE THK4%E4186,5208 8L (=
T PUEF 4B 84801%/%7E)&:ﬂ'm/$}§5$§7%
96108 B L (=T _WF : 6,9108% ) -
HE-_Z-_AF=-A=-+—RHLFEAEEFT
Mg 528978 1 (T — 4 : 20.8781l) -
ﬁ?m/j%ﬂiq_k:‘/ﬁi ng:l:_;_ﬁf'E_ﬂ
= t+t—HBLEFEZRERE(ZZEZ-MF : K
Hifg BB 2B RS RIRR B =R 13EL) -
HERERAF—AMNIKE 2 FHREGR2E
W BEZFT-RAF=ZA=+—RHLFEZR
BRREK AFRBIW(ZZ M :307() -

EOE

AEBRERT  HERHEZBRESS: -

HE_T-_RAE=A=+—HIEE  EB@k
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BERARPERRBZERE - HEEHEE
DA{&WEEL EPERABREREFAERA
EE WA RERFHRIFETHR - HEEHE
BT B4%E4186,520B 8L - EMHE S
R 8% E2189,6608 BT - (hAEBHE
EEFERCA% c MMEEE BRI 4%E
6,8008 BT EAEEHE L XEEN15% °
BOMEESEBAB ITREERHN KT
EFERHEE B MR BN AR RFTE o 22
RSHEBEILNI121%E8,1308 B L * A&
EEEEEEMNI7T% - EMTISNHEEEEE
EIN127% £1,8308 8L - G AEEHEHERE
B4% o
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Letter to Shareholders

Gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 decreased by
71% to HK$11.6 million. Gross profit margin decreased from
8.2% to 2.5%. The intense pressure on selling price cuts and
change in product mix had contributed to the drop in gross profit
margin. We continue to apply stringent cost control on all costs
as well as streamline and optimize the manufacturing processes
to enhance production efficiency and reduce labour costs.

The Group continued to apply strict control and measures on all
overhead costs and expenses. Selling and distribution expenses
increased by 14% to HK$16 million. As a percentage to sales
turnover, selling and distribution expenses increased from
2.9% to 3.4% compared to last year. Administrative expenses
increased by 6.9% to HK$78.2 million. As a percentage to sales
turnover, administrative expenses increased from 15.1% to
16.8% compared to last year.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, other income amounted to
HK$36.1 million which primarily comprised rental and building
management fee income and interest income. The decrease
of HK$10.2 million was mainly due to decrease in interest
income, rental and building management fee income and other
miscellaneous income.

At 31 March 2025, the investment property located in Wanchai,
Hong Kong was revaluated at HK$198 million (2024: HK$236
million) resulting in a decrease in fair value of HK$38 million for
the year.

At 31 March 2025, the investment property located in the
PRC at Hui Nam Hi-Tech Industrial Park was revaluated at
RMB172,700,000 (HK$184,789,000) (2024: RMB179,400,000
(HK$193,752,000)) resulting in a decrease in fair value of
HK$7,258,000 and a translation loss of HK$1,705,000 for the
period.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the rental and building
management fee income generated from the investment
properties in Hong Kong and the PRC was approximately
HK$22.8 million (2024: HK$23.5 million).

Net loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 was HK$96.1 million
(2024: HK$69.1 million). Net loss margin deteriorated from
14.3% to 20.7% compared to last year.
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Letter to Shareholders

Business Outlook

Going forward, it has become exceedingly difficult to predict
the global economy and business outlook. We expect business
environment would remain uncertain, difficult and challenging
with sluggish consumer sentiments and intense competition
within the industry.

Geopolitical problems in Russia/Ukraine and the Middle East
are still lingering on and seem to be intensifying. The US and
Europe, which are our major markets, are still facing high
inflation and interest rates. The ongoing China/US tension has
intensified. From 2 April 2025 onwards, we have witnessed
an unprecedented rollercoaster ride of the tariffs imposed on
China imports into the US. On 2 April 2025, US President Trump
announces a 34% reciprocal tariff on China which would be
effective on 9 April 2025. Together with the 20% Fentanyl tariff,
that means total tariffs would be 54%. After several rounds of
retaliations from both the US and China, the reciprocal tariff on
China peaked to 125%, making the total tariffs 145% on 9 April
2025. On 12 May 2025, after diplomatic talks at Geneva, China
and the US agreed to reduce reciprocal tariffs to 10% for 90
days, with the US fentanyl tariff of 20% remaining, bringing the
effective tariffs to 30%. If no deal is reached after 90 days, the
reciprocal tariff will revert to 34%. Subsequently, senior Chinese
and US officials held a meeting in London on 9 and 10 June
2025. The two sides have agreed on a framework agreement to
uphold the terms of the Geneva trade deal reached in May 2025.
The high tariff imposed have a significant impact on our sales
to the US. Although the tariff is not borne by us as our trading
terms with our customers are FOB basis, the tariff borne by our
customer would no doubt significantly drive up the pricing to
end consumers. To alleviate this impact, we are working closely
together with our customers on sub-contracting arrangements in
Malaysia on manufacturing some of our products to the US.

BRI R BR 1
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Letter to Shareholders

Through continuous improvement, streamlining and
consolidation across all aspects of operations, prudent supply
chain management and stringent cost control measures, we
will strive to further improve in cost reduction and efficiency.
We will stay vigilant and versatile in our manufacturing capacity
and resources planning in response to fluctuations in market
demand. We will continue to introduce more automated
equipment systems to boost efficiency. We will proactively seek
growth opportunities through new customers and new product
categories as well as the mainland China market and online sales
channels. We will also look for business opportunities to create
higher value for our shareholders.

With our prudent and pragmatic business approach, financial
strength and commitment to excel, we will strive on and tread
cautiously to ride through the current and coming difficulties and
challenges.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total assets of HK$937.6
million (2024: HK$1,092.4 million) which was financed by current
liabilities of HK$191.2 million (2024: HK$183.9 million), long-term
liabilities and taxation of HK$29.1 million (2024: HK$37.5 million)
and shareholders’ equity of HK$717.3 million (2024: HK$871.0
million).

The Group continued to maintain a strong balance sheet and a
healthy liquidity position. As at 31 March 2025, the Group held
HK$373.4 million (2024: HK$479.3 million) in cash and bank
deposits. They were mainly placed in Renminbi and US dollar
short-term deposits, except for temporary balances held in other
currencies as required pending specific payments. For the year
ended 31 March 2025, the Group incurred net cash outflow from
operating activities of HK$62.5 million (2024: HK$38.4 million).
As at the same date, total borrowings were HK$5.5 million (2024:
HK$10.7 million) and the gearing ratio (ratio of total borrowings
to shareholders’ equity) was 0.8% (2024: 1.2%).

Allan International Holdings Limited TR @R EEHR A 7
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Letter to Shareholders

We continue to apply stringent control over the working capital
cycle. The inventory balance as at 31 March 2025 was HK$41.7
million (2024: HK$37.6 million). Inventory increased by HK$4.2
million and inventory turnover maintained at 32 days. The trade
receivables balance as at 31 March 2025 was HK$91.1 million
(2024: HK$91.0 million). Trade receivables turnover increased
slightly from 69 days to 71 days. The trade payables balance as
at 31 March 2025 was HK$56.0 million (2024: HK$53.6 million).
Trade payables increased by HK$2.4 million and trade payables
turnover increased slightly from 44 days to 45 days.

Funding for day-to-day operational working capital and capital
expenditures are to be serviced by internal cash flow and
available banking facilities. For the year ended 31 March 2025,
the Group spent approximately HK$1,769,000 on addition of
4 motor vehicles, all of which were for replacement purpose.
There had been no other significant investment in plant and
machinery, moulds and tools, equipment, computer systems
and other tangible assets for expansion and upgrade to our
manufacturing facilities. The Group’s capital expenditures were
funded by internal resources and bank loans. With a healthy
financial position and available banking facilities, the Group
is able to provide sufficient financial resources for our current
commitments, working capital requirements, further expansions
of the Group’s business operations and future investment
opportunities, as and when required.

The majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities and business
transactions were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars,
Renminbis. Currently the Group does not implement hedging
activity to hedge against foreign currency exposure. However,
we will closely monitor foreign currency exposure and consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

BRI R BR 1
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Letter to Shareholders

Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed approximately 1,530
employees (2024: 1,560). The majority of our employees work
in the PRC. The Group remunerated our employees based on
their performance, experiences and prevailing market rates while
performance bonuses are granted on a discretionary basis.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our sincere appreciation to our employees, shareholders
and business associates for their continual contribution and
support throughout the year.

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie
Chairman

Hong Kong
26 June 2025
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Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, aged 67, was appointed as
Chairman of the Group on 17 March 2017 and joined the
Group in 1984. She obtained a degree in Bachelor of Science
from Kingston University London, England. She is responsible
for formulating the Group’s overall strategic planning and
development.

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie is the sister of Mr. Cheung Shu
Wan, the Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an
Executive Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. She is also the aunt of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy,
the General Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the Marketing Manager of Allan
Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Ms. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company.
She is also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan
Investment Company Limited, controlling shareholders of the
Company. As at 31 March 2025, according to the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Ms. Cheung had
personal interest in 600,000 shares and The Cheung Lun Family
Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Ms. Cheung and other
family members other than spouse) directly and indirectly had
interest in 154,349,960 shares. Details of her interests are set
out in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this
report.

Cheung Shu Wan, aged 64, is the Managing Director of the
Group and joined the Group in 1983. He obtained a degree in
Bachelor of Science from the University of London, England. He
is responsible for the sales & marketing functions and the overall
manufacturing operations of the Group. He also assists the
Chairman in corporate strategic planning and development.
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Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors (continueq)

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan is the brother of Ms. Cheung Lai Chun,
Maggie, the Chairman, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an
Executive Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. He is also the father of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy,
the General Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
the uncle of Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the Marketing Manager
of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Mr. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company.
He is also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan
Investment Company Limited, controlling shareholders of the
Company. As at 31 March 2025, according to the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
Mr. Cheung had personal interest in 46,779,335 shares and The
Cheung Lun Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Mr.
Cheung and other family members other than spouse) directly
and indirectly had interest in 154,349,960 shares. Details of his
interests are set out in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” of this report.

Cheung Lai See, Sophie, aged 62, is an Executive Director of
the Group and joined the Group in 1995. She obtained a degree
in Bachelor of Science from the University of London, England
and a master degree in Business Management from the City
University, England. She is responsible for the financial and
administration functions of the Group.

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie is the sister of Ms. Cheung
Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the
Managing Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. She is also the aunt of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy,
the General Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the Marketing Manager of Allan
Trading (HK) Company Limited.

12 Allan International Holdings Limited SR IR EEHR A 7

EEREREEAER

HITES )

REBAEREIRRBR AT ITEEFRE
Hidt  MITESFREEIE L REAREIH A
REREENLS - BABERES (FE)
BRARBEERERENRBENERE S
(BR)BERARMH KR KRG EENMN
A o

REERBTRBIMBMBAR ZES  HIT
&R R 2R A F - Unison Associates
Limited R PRIEBRARIZESE - RZF
ZHF=ZA=+—8  BEFHFIBEKD
FE 352G AL AZIEBI FTt B M - REEE
A K The Cheung Lun Family Trust(H Sz A
BIERAERFKIEEMA B (BELBRIN ) B
MEE D BFFEARRF46,779,335 KR 1D &
154,349,960/ e fp - H#E & B s SN RN F 3]
[EERFBTHABRKD - HERKRS - &
EEIERRKXE IR -

REBH  REAT R RAKERITES -
BER—NANAFMALXEER @ HFEEBERAK
SREFBHREFPTAZIHERBRLS
fI - REEAKEZHMBERITHREER -

REHMULIRIFREDLL  BFAKLHER
BWREL  MITEFRE LB L RKAREIFR
ERMEREZHK RITRTERES (FE)
BRARBEERELERTRES (FE)
BIRQ BT SRR R LENGE o



Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors (continueq)

Ms. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company.
She is also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan
Investment Company Limited, controlling shareholders of the
Company. As at 31 March 2025, according to the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
Ms. Cheung had personal interest in 1,258,000 shares and The
Cheung Lun Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which include
Ms. Cheung and other family members other than spouse)
directly and indirectly had interest in 154,349,960 shares of the
Company. Details of her interests are set out in the “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this report.

Cheung Shu Sang, William, aged 60, is an Executive Director
and joined the Group in 1994. He holds a BSc degree in
Computing Science and a MSc degree in Management Science,
both at Imperial College London. He also holds a PhD degree
in Automation from the University of Bristol, and is a member
of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. He is in charge of
engineering, research and development functions, and also
management of intellectual property/patent application of the
Group.

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William is the brother of Ms. Cheung
Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the
Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. He is also the uncle of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy,
the General Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the Marketing Manager of Allan
Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Dr. Cheung is a Director of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited
and Total Profits Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company.
He is also a director of Allan Investment Co. Ltd., a controlling
shareholder of the Company. As at 31 March 2025, according to
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, Dr. Cheung has personal interest in 900,000 shares
and The Cheung Lun Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which
include Dr. Cheung and other family members other than spouse)
directly and indirectly has interest in 154,349,960 shares.
Details of his interests are set out in the “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” of this report.
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Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, aged 61, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director on 29 August 2019. She
obtained her bachelor’s degree of accounting and financial
analysis from University of Newcastle Upon Tyne (UK) in 1985
and a postgraduate diploma from University of New England
(Australia) in 1988. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Lai Ah Ming, Leon, aged 68, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director in December 1995. He is the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of audit committee
of the Company. He is a solicitor majoring in commercial and
property works. He has been an independent non-executive
director of Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited (stock code: 3789)
since 17 January 2017 and Tsun Yip Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8356) since 16 April 2024.

Lo Chor Cheong, Colin, aged 56, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director on 9 September 2022. He
is currently a director and shareholder of Foo Hang Jewellery
Limited and its family office. He obtained a Bachelor of Arts
honours degree in Economics from York University and is a
Graduate Gemologist from the Gemological Institute of America.
He is a Hospital Governing Committee member of Grantham
Hospital under Hospital Authority, a director of The Hong
Kong Tuberculosis Chest and Heart Diseases Association, and
an Independent Manager of The Incorporated Management
Committee of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Lo Kon Ting
Memorial College.
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Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management

Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, aged 65, is the Director of Cost
Innovation and joined the Group in 1983. He obtained a degree
in Bachelor of Science from the University of Wales, England. He
is responsible for the purchasing and sourcing functions of the
Group.

Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon is the brother of Ms. Cheung
Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the
Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive
Director and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director. He is also the father of Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, the
Marketing Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and
the uncle of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy, the General Manager
of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Mr. Cheung is a director of Allan Electric Mfg. Limited, Allan
International Limited, Allan Plastic Mfg. Limited, Allan Trading
(HK) Company Limited, Artreal Manufactory Limited, Ngai
Shing (Far East) Plastic & Metalwares Factory Ltd., all being
subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a director of Allan
Investment Co. Ltd., a controlling shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is one of the beneficiaries of The Cheung Lun Family
Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Mr. Cheung and other
family members other than spouse) which indirectly has interest
in 154,349,960 shares of the Company.

Cheung Man Ho Timothy, aged 34, is the General Manager
of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and joined the group
in 2021. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Law from London
School of Economics and Political Sciences and an MSc degree
in Management from Imperial College Business School. He is
responsible for all functions of Allan Trading (HK) Company
Limited.

Mr. Cheung Man Ho, Timothy is the son of Mr. Cheung Shu
Wan; the Managing Director; nephew of Ms. Cheung Lai
Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an
Executive Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director and Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost
Innovation. He is also a cousin of Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, the
Marketing Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.

EEREREEAER

BREEAE

REE REANTHR BRARFAE RN
—NN=ZFMAREE - BEFAREHBHA
BESFEN - REBRRREAREZRELH
BHEEER

REIREEEREIRRED AL  EFLRLER
BWREL BITEFRBH L  HITESRR
WEBLZAE - RITRERES(FE)BR
NAETSHEERBEENRBENTERE S
(BAB)BRDFBEIBRIUELENAR -

REERTHMEEREBR QA - Alan
International Limited * @22 BB AR A &) -
TRESH(EE)ARAR - BETEFRAQ
A CEBR(ERR)EBASHMERAGE - (28
AAFIMBAG)ZESE - HAMARRRIER
BREMEEERAAZES - REERThe
Cheung Lun Family TrustE s —fi1 225 A (K
XmABRERAEERREEAMKE (EEK
HN)) - BB AN A 154,349,960 B 17 o

RXE - BFE=tUR "umEZ(FE)E
RARMELEIR  RZTZ—FMALER - &
HERBBUARERR ZRBS T EMUNTE
EmBReE 2B 81 - RAETRES

(BB)ERDAMAA R -

RIXOEFREREEFREBERBIBEEZRT
ITRERBERLT  YITERREH LT - #17
EERMABLIRKAHMAERGTTLELEL
ER - WANREMES (BB)BRARMESE
RIBRBREZEN

Annual Report 2024/2025 —E —[[UF & - &~ A FF 3R

15



Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management (continued)

Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin, aged 34, is the Marketing Manager
of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited and joined the Group in
2019. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Royal
Holloway, University of London. He is responsible for sales and
marketing function of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Mr. Cheung Man Hoi, Calvin is the son of Mr. Cheung Shu Chun,
Simon; the Director of Cost Innovation; nephew of Ms. Cheung
Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the
Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive
Director and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive
Director. He is also a cousin of Mr. Cheung Man Ho, the General
Manager of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited.

Li Wing Kong, aged 65, is the Director of Quality Assurance
and joined the Group in 2013. He obtained a Higher Diploma
of Electrical Engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic. He is
responsible for the Quality Assurance function of the Group.

Tsang Wing Tong, Michelle, aged 58, is the Director of
Manufacturing and joined the Group in 1987. She is responsible
for the manufacturing management and control function of the
Group.

Tong On Ni, aged 37, is the Company Secretary and Finance
and Accounts Manager of the Group and joined the Group in
2023. She holds a bachelor’s degree in professional accounting
and management from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. Ms. Tong is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She is responsible for
the Company’s secretarial duties and financial and accounting
aspects of the Group.
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
provides corporate management services. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, including an
analysis using financial key performance indicators, the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, important events
affecting the Group and an indication of likely future development
of the Group’s business can be found in “Financial Highlights” set
out on page 4, “Letter to Shareholders” set out on Pages 5 to 10
and “Financial Risk Management objectives and policies” (Note
28b) set out on pages 132 to 144 of this annual report.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The success of the Group depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise customers, suppliers, employees
and shareholders.

Customers

The Group’s major customers are companies selling household
electrical appliances under well-known brand names. The Group
maintains long-term and good relationship with its customers.
The Group strives to provide excellent service and quality
products to our customers.

Suppliers

Supply chain is a critical aspect of our operations. The Group
maintains long-term and good relationship with its suppliers.
The Group selects its suppliers based on assessment criteria
including, among others, cost, quality, experience, capability,
capacity, sustainability and ethical behavior. The Group requires
all suppliers to comply with relevant manufacturing and safety
standards. The Group has communicated to all the suppliers
of the Group’s strict compliance to anti-bribery which is also
required to be observed by all suppliers.
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Directors’ Report

Relationship with Stakeholders (continueq)

Employees

Employees are one of the most valuable assets of the Group. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package together with
safe and harmonious workplace. In-house and external trainings
and seminars are provided to employee for their business and
personal development. Recreational activities are organized
periodically and employees are encouraged to participate in
volunteer work. The Group has been nominated and awarded
“Caring Company” since 2007. The Group also received “Happy
Company Award” since 2014 in recognition of our continuous
commitment in building happy workplace culture and a pleasant
working environment for employees.

Shareholders

The Group endeavors to maximize the return to its shareholders.
The Group strives to achieve profit growth and stable dividend
payouts taking into account the business development needs
and financial health of the Group.

Environmental Policies

The Group recognizes the importance of achieving environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to comply with the
relevant environmental standards and policies related to
its business operations in the PRC and Hong Kong. The
manufacturing sites in the PRC and our head office in Hong Kong
are certified with the ISO 14001:2004 standard for environmental
management system. The Group incorporates the Reduce,
Reuse and Recycle principle and implements environmental-
friendly measures in operations and workplaces to achieve
efficient use of resources, waste reduction and energy saving.

The Company will publish its standalone Environmental, Social
and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2025 on
the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (http://www.allan.com.hk) in due course.
Further discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and others are also set out in the Environmental, Social
and Government Report.
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Directors’ Report

Compliance with laws and regulations

For the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

During the year, none of the Directors was interested in any
business which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 57.

An interim dividend of HK2 cents per ordinary share amounting
to HK$6,661,000 in aggregate was paid to the ordinary
shareholders during the year. The Board does not recommend
the distribution of dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the
Group’s largest suppliers and customers are as follows:
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Directors’ Report

Major Customers and Suppliers (continued)

At no time during the year did a director, an associate of
a director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has an interest in any of the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 156 of
the annual report.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of
the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if:

(@) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2025 comprised
the retained profit of HK$210,598,000 (2024: HK$261,371,000).
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Directors’ Report

Investment Properties

As at 31 March 2025, principal properties held for investment
purposes in Hong Kong are as follows:

Address:

- 9th Floor, Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Hong Kong

- Car Parking Space No. 303 on 3rd Floor, Capital
Centre, No. 1561 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

- Car Parking Space No. 304 on 3rd Floor, Capital
Centre, No. 1561 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

Lot No.:

- The Remaining Portion of Section A of the Inland Lot
No. 2755

- The Remaining Portion of Inland Lot No. 2755
Existing Use: Office rental
Lease Term: Long term

As at 31 March 2025, principal properties held for investment
purposes in the PRC are as follows:

Address:

No. 6, Jin Da Road, Hui Nan Hi-Tech Industrial Park, HuiAo
Highway, Huizhou, Guangdong, The PRC

Existing Use: Factory rental
Lease Term: Long term
Details of the movement in investment properties of the Group

during the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Directors’ Report

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$1,769,000
on addition of 4 motor vehicles for replacement purpose.
Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Directors and Directors’ Service
Contracts

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Managing Director)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin

According to bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Cheung Shu Wan and Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each director is the period up to his/her
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-
laws.

None of the directors of the Company proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting has any service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
on pages 11 to 14 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report EEERE

EERFETHRAERKRS
MHERD - EEEZERZR

QUL AL
/ﬁE

Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

At 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
directors and the chief executives and their associates in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations, as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”), or as otherwise {TAESETELET HEESTR|([EAESFR])
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong ZHETFEMERANRILREEBMEXLSHAERED
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for T[T BRSO A T -

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code”), were as follows:

R-ZFB-_AF=ZA=+—HB ARAEFKE
EITRABREBMBEALIRARAREBEA
AIHR D ~ ARG RERE PR A RS IR
BRRBNARAIRE 7 R HE 5RH £ 3521 R
EFZERMANERIORE - IRIELHH

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company AATEREEIOETZEER

Number of ordinary shares held

Approximate %

FREEREA of the issued
Personal Other share capital
Name Capacity interest interest Total of the Company
HERARERITREG
®H a4 PN £ HipfEs By ZHRES
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan Beneficial Owner 46,779,335
R4 ExBAA
Beneficiary of trust 154,349,960 201,129,295 60.39%
FEXEA (Note)
(Hiit)
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie Beneficial Owner 600,000
KED T ExBEAA
Beneficiary of trust 154,349,960 154,949,960 46.52%
FEXEA (Note)
(Hiit)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie Beneficial Owner 1,258,000
REMZ T ExBAA
Beneficiary of trust 154,349,960 155,607,960 46.72%
FEXEA (Note)
(Hiit)
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William Beneficial Owner 900,000
E3la ExBEAA
Beneficiary of trust 154,349,960 155,249,960 46.61%
FEXEA (Note)
(Hiit)
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures
(Continued)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (Continued)

Note:

The references to 154,349,960 shares relate to the same block of
shares in the Company, of which 134,821,960 shares are held by
Allan Investment Co. Limited (“*AICL”"), 12,958,000 shares are held by
Commence Investment Limited (“CIL") and 6,570,000 shares are held by
Unison Associates Limited (“UAL”). AICL and CIL are owned as to 89%
and 100% respectively by UAL. Credit Suisse Trust Limited as trustee of
The Cheung Lun Family Trust (“Trust”) holds 100% of the shareholding of
UAL and the discretionary beneficiaries of the Trust are, among others,
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, Ms. Cheung Lai
See, Sophie and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief
executives, nor their associates, of the Company had, as at
31 March 2025, any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Arrangement to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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Directors’ Report

Appointment of Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors are independent.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement and Contracts of
Significance

Allan International Holdings Limited (“AIHL”), entered into
a tenancy agreement with Ardent Investment Limited (“Ardent”),
a subsidiary of a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect
of certain premises on Unit B & Roof, 23rd Floor, Chaiwan
Industrial Centre, 20 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong at
a monthly rent of HK$123,800. The tenancy agreement was for a
term of one year commenced from 1 September 2024. The total
amount of rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of this
agreement was HK$1,485,600.

AIHL, entered into a tenancy agreement with Ardent, pursuant to
which Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect of car park
No. 33, Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee Chung Street, Chai
Wan, Hong Kong at a monthly rent of HK$3,000. The tenancy
agreement was a term of one year commenced from 1 November
2024. The total amount of rent paid for the year by the Group in
respect of this agreement was HK$36,000.

AIHL, entered into a tenancy agreement with Ardent, pursuant to
which Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect of car park
No. 35, Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee Chung Street, Chai
Wan, Hong Kong at a monthly rent of HK$3,000. The tenancy
agreement was a term of one year commenced from 1 November
2024. The total amount of rent paid for the year by the Group in
respect of this agreement was HK$36,000.

EETHE

BIYFHTESZEME

ARBCHERSBUFNTEETSEHH 2 MHE
RE - RTETABRAES EMARAN( LT

HMADESABGREZBILIE - ARRRAR
ERBIFPTETHYR/BIAL -

EEREARS  ZHR
BRZES

TRBEREERBRAR([EMm)EARREE
BREMMBRREEEEER A G ([HE])ET
MIERAA - BEBEZAL - BRBLREEE
R RE209R LR L T ¥ AE23EBE M E
XKEWWEMRTEM - AH123,8008 T © %
BOB—ZT-_WFNLA—BHB BH—F-
REBBZEORAFARNZHESRER
1,485,600/5 7T °

DRERREI L —IEEY  BIEZELY - HE
B R BB ERN REH20REEP L TEKRE
B33 EAM A Tefm - & A £3,0008 7T o
ZEAB—_ZE-_MF+—A—BRH%B - AE—
F o AEBBRZBHNRANEANRN 2 BT
436,000 7T °

DimEREI L —IBELY - BIEZMELY - HE
IR B BLEER REH20REEF LT EKRE
B35S EAF Tt - & A £3,0008 7T o
ZHAB—_ZE-—OF+—A—BFH®B - BH—
FoREBERZBORAFEANMAF S BEE
£36,0008 7T °
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement and Contracts of
Significance (continued)

Conan Electric Manufacturing Limited (“Conan”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement
with Fair Pacific Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AICL,
a substantial shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which
Fair Pacific Limited granted to Conan a tenancy in respect of
certain land in Lilin, Zhongkai Hi-Tech Industrial Development
Zone, Huizhou City, Guangdong, the PRC at a monthly rent
of HK$82,000. The tenancy agreement was for a term of one
year commenced from 1 April 2024. The total amount of rent
paid for the year by the Group in respect of this agreement was
HK$984,000.

Conan entered into a tenancy agreement with AICL, pursuant
to which AICL granted to Conan a tenancy in respect of certain
premises in Lilin, Zhongkai Hi-Tech Industrial Development
Zone, Huizhou City, Guangdong, the PRC at a monthly rent
of HK$75,000. The tenancy agreement was for a term of one
year commenced from 1 April 2024. The total amount of rent
paid for the year by the Group in respect of this agreement was
HK$900,000.

The above transactions were approved by the independent non-
executive directors and were conducted on normal commercial
terms in the ordinary course of business of the Group and in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Other than disclosed above, no transactions, arrangement and
contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding
company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director or a connected entity of a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Directors’ Report

Emolument Policy

Salary package for employees are structured by reference
to market conditions, staff’'s experience and individual
performance. Other benefits offered by the Group included
medical insurance, mandatory provident fund scheme, training
subsidies, share option scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
and decided by the Board, with reference to the market rates,
commitment, contribution and their duties, and responsibilities
with the Group. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in
details in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2025, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of
certain directors and chief executive, the following shareholders
had notified the Company of relevant interests and long/short
positions in the issued share capital of the Company.
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Substantial Shareholders (continued)

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the shares of

the Company

Name of shareholder

BRRE®E

Credit Suisse Trust Limited

UAL

AICL
SRIE

Webb, David Michael (“Mr. Webb”)

Member One Limited (“MOL”)

Preferable Situation Assets Limited
(“PSAL”)

Note:

MOL and PSAL held 18,410,200 (approximately 5.53%) and 25,675,800
(approximately 7.71%) Shares respectively, representing approximately
18.24% of the total issued Shares in aggregate. MOL and PSAL are
wholly owned by Mr. Webb. Therefore, Mr. Webb is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by MOL and PSAL.

EEEHE

Capacity

&)

Trustee

EFEA

Held by controlled corporation
FiESl 2 RARlEAR

Beneficial Owner

EmEAA

Beneficial Owner
EREAA

Held by controlled corporation

SiEE P A/NCIES R ]

Beneficial Owner
EnEAA

Beneficial Owner

EE
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147,779,960

6,570,000

134,821,960

44,086,000
(Note)
(Hiat)

18,410,200
(Note)
(Kat)

25,675,800
(Note)
(Hat)

Approximate %
of shareholding
HREZ

BHABE DL
46.34%

44.37%

1.97%

40.48%

13.24%

5.53%

7.71%
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Directors’ Report

Substantial Shareholders (continued)

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the shares of
the Company (Continued)

On 31 May 2025, after the reporting period, the Company had
been notified that the shares of the controlled corporations of
MOL and PSAL are jointly held by Mr. Webb David Michael (Mr.
Webb) and Ms. Webb Karen Anne (Ms. Webb).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$87,000.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices of the Company is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 32 to 47.
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Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws/articles of association, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors, from
25 April 2024 to the date of this annual report, the Company’s
public float was below 25%, the minimum prescribed percentage
(“Minimum Prescribed Percentage”) as required in Rule 8.08(1)
(a) of the Listing Rules. To the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of the annual report, the Company’s public float was
approximately 24.04%.

While the drop of the Company’s public float was beyond the
Company’s control, it will take appropriate steps to ensure the
restoration of the Minimum Prescribed Percentage to public
hands as soon as possible.

For more details of the insufficiency of public float, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated from 14 June 2024 to
17 April 2025 in relation to the status of its public float.
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Directors’ Report EEERE

Auditor = ERD

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to REREKREREERS - 2R —Birz
re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the & - #EEFEY « =R T EHEIITALR

Company. A)AZ BEM o

On behalf of the Board REEEMm

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie REY

Chairman FE

Hong Kong B

26 June 2025 —E-RERNAZTRH
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company recognizes that good corporate governance is
vital to the success of the Group and the sustained development
of the Group. The Company aims at complying with, where
appropriate, all code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the CG Code.
The Company has, throughout the year ended 31 March 2025,
applied and complied with most of the code provisions save for
certain deviations from the code provisions, details of which are
explained below.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. The Company
has made specific enquiry to all directors regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the year under review
and they have all confirmed that they had fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code.

Board of Directors

The Board comprises of four Executive Directors, being Ms.
Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Shu Wan
(Managing Director), Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie and Dr.
Cheung Shu Sang, William; and three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, being Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, Mr. Lai
Ah Ming, Leon and Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin. Biographical
details, which include relationships among members of the
Board, are provided in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this Annual Report.

32 Allan International Holdings Limited SR IR EEHR A 7

3%

i
T

wE

ARBRARFEEERYAEE 2K R FF
BERTHEE - ARBBRNEBT(EEER
AT)ERBBEXIMERAAEZES EMARR
(TEmHRADKRCIAEZ [BEEETA
(TEESFRID A SFRIME -

RRAB 2 EEERTERIIREEE 7B PrEH
BRAAT AR MER] - REIZE-FT_HF
ZA=+—BLEFEAR  ARECEBTKIED
STRMGEX - BT TXHABRARRBE TR
BT RIS Z b

EFETESXS

RAREHRM ETRAKERCIFAE 2 £
TAEZETESFRZNRET ([ FET
Al]) - ARRIEHHRESKREBFABAEE
MARBETRETRZI/IELER  28E
SRR RSE T BEFELETRRE 2R

Exg

EFEeXEEENBRTES  RED XL
()  REREL(EFHEKE)  REHK
TRERBAES LT R=RBIUIFERTES @ &
Bt REALRERERHEL - BEF
B ERESEXBRZBERIERAFRIE
ELEREERAB|—FIA -



Corporate Governance Report

Board of Directors (continued)

The Company has complied with the Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors and one
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all Independent Non-Executive Directors meet
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board
and the management. The Board is responsible for providing
high-level guidance and effective oversight of the management
while day-to- day management of the Group is delegated to
the management team of each respective subsidiary. Generally
speaking, the Board is responsible for:

° Formulating the Group’s long term strategy and monitoring
he implementation thereof

° Approval of interim and year end dividend

° Reviewing and approving the annual and interim reports
° Ensuring good corporate governance and compliance

° Monitoring the performance of the management

o Reviewing and approving any material acquisition and
assets disposal

The Board authorises the management to carry out the strategies
that have been approved.

The Board meets regularly at least four times a year and
additional meetings or telephone conferences are convened as
and when the Board considers necessary. During the year, four
board meetings were held.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify its directors against liabilities arising out
of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Board considered that the duties of the Managing Director
(“MD”), Mr. Cheung Shu Wan were no different from that required
of a chief executive stipulated under the code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code. The management would regard that the term
MD will have the same meaning as the chief executive of the
Company.

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman of the Board, is
an Executive Director who is responsible for the leadership and
effective running of the Board, and ensuring that all significant
and key issues are discussed and where required, resolved by
the Board timely and constructively.

The MD of the Board is delegated with the authority and
responsibility to run the Group’s business and day-to-day
operation, and implement the Group’s strategy with respect to
the achievement of its business objectives with the assistance of
the executive directors and senior management.
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Corporate Governance Report

Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

Code provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any director appointed by the Board during the year
shall retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first
general meeting immediately following his/her appointment.
Further,
directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or

at each annual general meeting, one-third of the

multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding
one-third, shall retire from office. The directors to retire by
rotation shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last re-election or appointment. As such, the Company considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are similar to those
in the CG Code.

Code provision B.2.3 stipulates that If an independent non-
executive director has served more than nine years, such
director’s further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders.

Currently, one independent non-executive director, Mr. Lai Ah
Ming, Leon has served more than nine years. Particulars of Mr.
Lai seeking re-election at the forth coming AGM are set out in the
related circular to Shareholders.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of the
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s
business. As at the date of this report, the gender ratio amongst
members of the Board is 4 males to 3 females. All Board
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contributions that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Workforce Diversity

The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group (including senior
management) for the Year was approximately 37% male and
approximately 63% female. The Group encourages gender
diversity across its workplace. To achieve diversity at workforce
level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are
considered.

Directors’ Training

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
Each newly appointed Director would receive materials
covering the Group’s businesses and director’s duties and
responsibilities. The Company provides the Directors with market
news and regulatory updates for them to understand the latest
development of regulatory and compliance issues.
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Corporate Governance Report

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors participated
in the following trainings:

Directors =
Executive Directors HITES

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie KB X+

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan SRS AR ST A

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie REBAT T

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William RS AL
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan B A+

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon FHERR S A

Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin E A

A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
economy, latest changes and development of the Listing
Rules, corporate governance practices, and etc.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999 and comprises
three Board members, all of whom are independent
non-executive directors. The Audit Committee has adopted the
same terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties
of the Committee, as quoted under code provision D.3.3 of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee will meet at least twice each year. During
the year, the Audit Committee met twice considering the annual
results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2025
and the interim results of the Group for the 6 months ended 30
September 2024, assessing any changes in accounting policies
and practices, major judgmental areas and compliance with
applicable legal and accounting requirements and standards,
discussing with the auditor of the Company on the risk
management and internal control systems.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2022 with written
terms of reference as stated in Code B.3.1 of the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee consists of three members, which
is chaired by Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman. Ms.
Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, an Independent Non-Executive Director
and Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon, an Independent Non-Executive
Director, are the Committee Members.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment of Directors
and the management of the Board succession.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving and maintaining
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them
to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
relevant criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy
that are necessary to complement the corporate strategy and
achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has held one meeting
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
to review and access the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, and to consider the qualifications of
the retiring directors standing for election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. The Nomination Committee considered
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board
is maintained and has not set any measurable objective
implementing the Board Diversity Policy.
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Corporate Governance Report

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2012 with
written terms of reference as stated in Code E.1.2 of the CG
Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
majority of which are Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon, being an Independent Non-Executive
Director, acts as the chairman. Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, an
Independent Non-Executive Director and Ms. Cheung Lai See,
Sophie, an Executive Director, are the Committee Members.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and overseeing the remuneration packages of all directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendation to the Board for the determination of the
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the Board for the directors’ fee of non-
executive directors. It takes into account factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies with similar size and
trade, education background and qualification of each director
and senior management, time commitment and responsibilities
of directors and senior management and reviewing and/or
approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has held one
meeting, in which it reviewed, discussed and approved the
remuneration policies, system, package and the discretionary
bonus of the directors and senior management of the Company.

Details on the emolument payable to the directors are disclosed
in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Attendance Records of Meetings

The Board meets regularly for considering, reviewing and/
or approving matters relating to, among others, the financial
and operating performance, as well as the overall strategies
and policies of the Company. Additional meetings are held
when significant events or important issues are required to be
discussed and resolved.

Details of all Directors’ attendance at Board meetings and Board

committee meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2025

are as follows:

i
T
_|.|¢H.
Sad
¥

-

R

23 R R

EXQTHEAREE  UZE  BHR St
KRB (ERBRE)RAARMBREERR - A
REBERENTH ERETRMEREXSE
HABRENE  ARBERITETEH -

REE-Z-_AF=-A=+—HILEFE2EE
EHREE R RESREEgRNFEN
T

Number of Meeting Attended During Tenure/Held During Tenure

ERRLERS FHAEEETRY

2024
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting
b S 1E:2
ES283 ENZE99E FHZRe83 REZEEEE RRBEFAS
Name of Directors EEpsg
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggle ~ REPR &+
(Chairman) () 4/4 - - 1/1 11
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan REELE
(Managing Director) (EZHEE) 4/4 - - - 1/1
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie REHZL 4/4 - 11 - 1/1
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, Willam  SRisi 4 fE+ 4/4 - - - 11
Independent Non-Executive ~ BUEHTES
Directors
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan BERTL 4/4 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon BHERLE 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 11
Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin ERHLE 4/4 2/2 - = 1

—: The director is not a committee member
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management; review and monitor the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; review and monitor the code of
conduct applicable to employees and directors; and review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board reviewed the Group’s compliance with
the code of corporate governance disclosure requirements in
the Corporate Governance Report and approved the 2024/2025
Corporate Governance Report of the Company.

Company Secretary

Ms. Tong On Ni (“Ms. Tong”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary and Finance and Accounts Manager of the Company
with effect from 23 March 2023. Ms. Tong is responsible to
update and provide advice to the Board in relation to directors’
obligations under the Listing Rules, applicable laws and
regulations, and corporate governance matters. Ms. Tong has
provided her training records to the Company indicating her
compliance with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. Ms. Tong’s biographical details are provided in
the “Directors and Senior Management” section of this Annual
Report.
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Constitutional Documents

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statement

The Board acknowledges that it is their responsibility for (i)
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements of the
Group with a view to ensuring such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and (ii)
selecting suitable accounting policies and applying the selected
accounting policies consistently with the support of reasonable
and prudent judgement and estimates.

A statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 48 to 54 of this Annual
Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year under review, the remuneration payable to the
Company’s independent auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is
set out as follows:

Services rendered Fees payable

HK$'000

Audit services 2,106
Non-audit services

Taxation services 294

Report on occupational retirement scheme 27
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Corporate Governance Report

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an
ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the Group’s environmental,
social and governance performance and reporting are adequate.
In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any material
issues to the Board.

In light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of
the Group, the Directors are of the view that it would be more
cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to
perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet its
needs. The Group does not have an internal audit department
and will continue to review the need for an internal audit function.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls
(Continued)

During the year, the Group appointed KLC Kennic Lui & Co.,
Limited (“KLC”) as an external independent professional to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control reviews and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by KLC to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of KLC as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

The Group has established internal control procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information in order to
comply with Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules as well as Part XIVA
of the SFO. The internal control mechanism includes information
flow and reporting processes, confidentiality arrangements,
disclosure procedures, and staff training arrangements, etc.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls
and risk management and further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.
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Corporate Governance Report

Dividend Policy

The board adopts a Dividend Policy which aims to allow
shareholders of the company to participate in the company’s
profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the group’s future
growth. The board shall consider the following factors before
declaring or recommending dividends:

° the company’s actual and expected financial performance;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
company and each of the members of the group;

° the group’s working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

° the group’s liquidity position;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the company; and

° other factors that the board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda
and the company’s Bye-laws. The board will continually review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and there can be no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The rights of the Shareholders are set out in the Bye-laws.

Convening a special general meeting

The Shareholders may put forward their proposals or enquiries
to the Board by sending their written request to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda
Companies Act.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meeting
Shareholder(s) can also submit a written requisition to move a
resolution at a general meeting pursuant to Section 79 to 80 of
the Bermuda Companies Act if they (a) represent not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of those shareholders
having the right to vote at a general meeting; or (b) are not less
than one hundred shareholders. The written requisition must
state the resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at the
general meeting and deposited at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continuea)

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meeting (Continued)
The written requisition must be signed by all the Shareholders
concerned in one or more documents in like form and deposited
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
for the attention of the Company Secretary not less than six
weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution, and not less than one week before the
meeting in the case of any other requisition. A sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement given
by the requisitionists to all shareholders in accordance with the
requirements under the applicable laws and rules should also be
accompanied.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at Flat B, 23/F., Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee
Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company regards its Annual General Meeting as an
opportunity for direct communication between the Board
and its shareholders. All Directors and external auditor make
an effort to attend the Annual General Meeting to address
shareholders’ queries. The Company also responds to requests
for information and queries from the shareholders and investors
and welcomes the views of shareholders on matter affecting the
Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meeting to
communicate any concerns they might have with the Board.
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ALLAN INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Allan International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on
pages 55 to 155, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

ARESEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional AREASHEISEERFNESLHE - R A%
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the RNEGGE A ERENET R AEENEZE - &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These LEFEAERMEBTEEaEMBERERE R
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the ERBETERIEN - AT ELSHIEMH
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our BEHNER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

HRETSEE

Valuation of investment properties

REVFEIGE

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance in
consolidated statement of financial position and
significant assumptions and judgements involved in
determining their fair value.
BPERREDENEEFABROETFE 2
EEHBMBRARTNEEEURREE R FEMEF
ZASEPN B b -1

The Group’s investment properties amounted to
HK$382,789,000 as at 31 March 2025 and a loss
on fair value changes of investment properties of
HK$45,258,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year then ended.
M-E-AE=A=+—0 £EREVEALAE
BRT8EBITENLLREMENATEESH 2 BB FH
452588 T ELENAFEFABRALEMEEKAR
PRER ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ETNAHARENERETRE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

B E R EIREYENEF B

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Surveyors;
. AHEBY A ERASRITERT - MEEMTHIL

° Obtaining an understanding from the Surveyors
about the valuation technique, the performance of
the market, significant assumptions adopted and
key inputs used in the valuations;

. 18I 2 A AR AR 2 AR B R E R AT - BRI - PIERA
B ERRR M EE S LB AR5 8 A BUE

° Checking the accuracy and integrity of tenancy
information provided by management to the
Surveyors with the underlying source documents;

. EHERERMAEMNEEE SO ER KA
X
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Key Audit Matters (continueq)

Key audit matter

BREESBE

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)
REYFL)IEE(E)

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, all of the Group’s investment
properties were stated at fair value based on a
valuation performed by a firm of independent qualified
professional surveyors (“Surveyors”). The fair value
of the Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong
was determined by adopting the direct comparison
method. The valuation is sensitive to the market
unit rate of comparable properties and adjustment
factors such as size, view, location and floor level of
property and timing of the comparable transactions.
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
in the People’s Republic of China was determined by
adopting the term and reversion analysis of investment
approach. The valuation is sensitive to market rents
with key inputs including rental in reversionary
period and yield. The directors of the Company have
exercised their judgement on the methods of valuation
in relying on the valuation reports.
REEMBRMEEMTI4MISHEE  SEMBREY
FORTERRE - ZRXAFANBILERSERAEM
(TAIEE ) ME - REREEREVENRTFEEK
REEZELRAFEETE - MERAILRATISEMLEEL
BMENRT 58 NE - BEERBEUNARZEHE
ERBAENREER AKBEPEARKNMBENKRED X
WAFERBREHARNMEEDITEHETE o BEE AR
BOMEEMSHeHZ BEEFHSRE®RE - &
NEIESEBEERSGITERES 2 -

FAREETTEE o)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BSOS ERENETRETRE

Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
techniques and the reasonableness of the key
inputs used by the Surveyors, including the rental
in reversionary period, yield, market rents, market
unit rate of individual unit and adjustment factors
for size, view, location and floor level of property
and timing of comparable transactions against
current market data and entity specific information
on a sample basis; and

AR R EREARENSEN - BEERES -
Bl - MHEE -~ BB TS ELEBERINYER
Rt 58 UBNERE UKL ZNKHEEE
AIMISBENMERBARBESNAREER  UlEAR
EITRER &

Involving our internal valuation specialist, on a
sample basis, to evaluate the appropriateness of
the valuation techniques and reasonableness of the
key inputs used by the Surveyors.

B AR EEZE B T &R 280 P E A
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report,
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

but does not include the

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yuen Wing Hang.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or SEBREN
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  H b 2 & Uk % &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HEZZT_RAF=A=-1T—RHILFE
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZT-F
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
i3 FAET FET
Revenue EEHE 5 465,170 484,763
Cost of sales SHER AR (453,535) (445,229)
Gross profit EF 11,635 39,534
Other income Hhdizs 6 36,110 46,279
Other gains and losses HinBF % EE 7 (1,825) (r22)
Selling and distribution expenses HERD HRA (16,025) (14,023)
Administrative expenses TTHRAAR (78,248) (73,193)
Loss on fair value changes of REME 2 N FEZEAH
investment properties EERNER 13 (45,258) (69,143)
Impairment loss under expected credit loss BHEEHBERN TR
model, net BEEBFHE (134) (158)
Finance costs MBER (434) (697)
Loss before tax BRE AR (94,179) (72,123)
Income tax (expense) credit FER(AZ)HER 9 (1,957) 2,992
Loss for the year attributable to owners of REZUDEHANBERA
the Company o) it 10 (96,136) (69,131)

Other comprehensive (expense) income: Hitt2HE(FA%) W

Items that may be reclassified subsequently HEZEEH 7 EZE %

to profit or loss: HEH :
Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ #EBINEKFTE L ZER

foreign operations = (903) (17,386)
Net fair value gain on debt instruments BAFEFAREMZENKER

at fair value through other comprehensive BETANDLERFFH

income 50 119
Reclassification of investment revaluation HERATEFAHLMEZE

reserve upon disposal of debt instruments at Uz BB T EHIRE

fair value through other comprehensive income &1 & E 5 18 (69) 24
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEEMEERAY (922) (17,243)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ARARASREANEEALZ

attributable to owners of the Company FEEEAALEE (97,058) (86,374)
Loss per share BRER 12

Basic HAR HK(28.9) centsi&fll HK(20.8) centsi&il
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2025

2025 2024
—E-RE —EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HaE FHT FHETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties EME 13 382,789 429,752
Property, plant and equipment W - WEREE 14 3,603 3,785
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 3,398 3,582
Club debentures SREES 16 10,343 10,343
Debt instruments at fair value through R AFESFAEMEE
other comprehensive income e BB TR
(“FVTOCI”) 20 - 3,844
Deferred tax assets BRI EE 25 631 787
400,764 452,093
Current assets mENEE
Inventories FE 17 41,732 37,550
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR 5K 18 91,079 91,005
Other receivables H A fE IR AR 5K 18 27,051 24,803
Mould deposits paid ENERTS 3,307 2,120
Financial assets at fair value through BRBREATETE
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) ZHEEE 19 - 1,640
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFEFAHEME®
ez BB TR 20 - 3,901
Tax recoverable FERFRIE 284 97
Short-term deposits EHITFER 21(a) 225,897 304,696
Bank balances and cash wTEFRERES 21(b) 147,493 174,556
536,843 640,268
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade payables JERTE SRR 22 55,975 53,608
Other payables and accruals H b AR
& AR AT 23 74,804 72,722
Mould deposits received ERERTS 22,591 19,111
Tax liabilities MIBAE 32,671 33,291
Secured bank loan BEBIEITER 24 5,124 5,124
191,165 183,856
Net current assets mENEEFE 345,678 456,412
Total assets less current liabilities BREERREDBE 746,442 908,505
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2025

Non-current liabilities EREFAE
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEAE
Secured bank loan BIRFIRITER

Net assets BEFE

Capital and reserves BAR R
Share capital AR
Reserves i1

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 155 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
26 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

CHEUNG LAI CHUN, MAGGIE
REY
DIRECTOR
EF

ma PR R

RZZE-_RAF=A=+—H

2025 2024

—E_RE —EOFE

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
25 28,695 31,957
24 417 5,541
29,112 37,498

717,330 871,007

26 33,305 8,806
684,025 837,702

717,330 871,007

HNEEEIAZHFAMBREEES N -F
THERAZTABABRESESRERKRET
T WHTMIEFTARRE

CHEUNG LAI SEE, SOPHIE
REH
DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #S#&EHZ B E R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HEZZT_hAF=-A=-1T—HIFE

Capital  Property Investment
Share Share redemption revaluation revaluation Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
B N R&
BA  ROEE REEE EM4EE  EGEE  EXRE  REEN ag
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FEr TET TET TET TET TET TET TET

At 31 March 2023 RZZE-=f=A=t-H (124) 13,436 768,166 1,007,339
Loss for the year ~EEER = - (69,181)  (69,131)
Exchange differences arising on BINEBBERESL L

translation of foreign operations EREE - (17,386) - (17,386)
Net fair value gain on debt instruments AT &AL M2 E

at FVTOCI mEKTIENATE

BHFE 119 - - 19

Reclassification of investment HERATEFALLZE

revaluation reserve upon disposal of BRHERIERRE

debt instruments at FVTOCI EfREENSE 24 = - 24
Other comprehensive income (expense) AEEEMAERA (SHE)

for the year 143 (17,386) - (17,243)
Total comprehensive income (expense) AEE2EUMA ()25

for the year 143 (17,386)  (69,131)  (86,374)
Dividends recognised as distribution B2 R RS

(Note 11) (Hii11) = - (49.958)  (49,958)
At 31 March 2024 W-ZE-NE=A=1+—H 19 (3,950) 649,077 871,007
Loss for the year AEEER - - (96,136)  (96,136)
Exchange differences arising on BINERBEREL

translation of foreign operations EREE = (903) - (903)
Net fair value gain on debt instruments  RATE AR 2E Kz

at FVTOCI MEKTENATE

BFIFHE 50 = = 50

Reclassification of investment HERATEFALLZE

revaluation reserve upon disposal of WRHERIERRE

debt instruments at FVTOCI BREENNE (69) = = (69)
Other comprehensive expense AEEHM2ATH

for the year (19) (903) - (922)
Total comprehensive expense AEE2ANHER

for the year (19) (903) (96,136) (97,058)
Dividends recognised as distribution B2 R RS

(Note 11) (Hia11) = - (56619)  (56,619)
At 31 March 2025 W-E-R%=A=1-H - (4,853) 496,322 717,330
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2025

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment loss under expected credit loss
model, net
Allowance (reversal of allowance) for inventory
provision, net
Loss on fair value changes of
investment properties
Cumulative (gain) loss reclassified from
investment revaluation reserve upon
disposal of debt instruments at FVTOCI
Net gain on fair value changes of
financial assets at FVTPL

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Write-off of property, plant and equipment

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

(Increase) decrease in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

Increase in other receivables

(Increase) decrease in mould deposits paid

Increase in trade payables

Increase (decrease) in other payables and accruals

Increase (decrease) in mould deposits received

Cash used in operations

Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid) refunded

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
Enterprise Income Tax paid

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
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2025 2024
ol -3 —TE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
(94,179) (72,123)
434 697
(13,017) (17,624)
1,719 2,075
184 183
134 158
5,473 (196)
45,258 69,143
(69) 24

(48) (231)
(125) (180)

7 —
(54,229) (18,074)
(9,994) 1,458
(247) (18,210)
(2,306) (2,281)
(1,187) 3,749
2,844 5,496
2,546 (305)
3,480 (9,673)
(59,093) (37,840)
(757) 2,426
(2,679) (2,993)
(62,529) (38,407)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #Z&EEEHEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of

— financial assets at FVTPL

— debt instruments at FVTOCI

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Withdrawal of short-term deposits

Placement of short-term deposits

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid

Interest paid

Repayment of secured bank loan

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF THE YEAR, represented by

Bank balances and cash
Short-term deposits with
original maturity within three months

BE_T-AF=A=t—AILFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
BEEE
BRI 8 13,051 17,683
FISEIERME ¢
—BBEREATE
STECEREE 1,554 5,981
—BAYEFAREMBEZE
WaEmEBTA 7,795 1,565
HEWE - BEREE
Fris ik 291 180
BEYE  BEERE (1,774) -
REUEHIF 152,512 159,243
YED i SRR EE (162,653) (101,707)
REEHMEE RS FH 10,776 82,945
BEEE
BEfRE (56,619) (49,958)
BERFE (434) (697)
EEAERBRTER (5,124) (5,124)
BEEEMERS (62,177) (55,779)
BehReZERLVFE
(113,930) (11,241)
REMzBERREEE
425,252 438,627
INEEREH L HE (2,132) (2,134)
REZEZRERREETHE
HER 309,190 425,252
BITEFERRS 147,493 174,556
FEHAA=@EAUAR
5 BRI TR 3K 161,697 250,696
309,190 425,252
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

General Information

Allan International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its
immediate holding company is Allan Investment Company
Limited, a private company incorporated in Hong Kong;
and its ultimate holding company is Credit Suisse Trust
Limited, who is a trustee of The Cheung Lun Family Trust,
the discretionary beneficiaries of which are, among other
family members, the directors of the Company, Mr. Cheung
Shu Wan, Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, Ms. Cheung
Lai See, Sophie and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company
and provides corporate management services to its
subsidiaries. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are manufacturing and trading of
household electrical appliances.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

Application of New and
Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

Application of New and
Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards (continueq)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and

Measurement of Financial

Instruments?®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature

and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 118
Amendments to HKAS 21  Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

Application of New and
Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards (continueq)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements (“HKFRS 18”)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers
Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to contracts with customers is provided in
Note 5.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RA&=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. A MEHREFHREER

Financial Statements and Material BEXGEFTHEER 2
Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) ERSHBERER(E)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value
model.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”)
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. When a fair value gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rate fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the
date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes, the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(“MPF Scheme”) in December 2000, all being defined
contribution schemes, are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises
any related restricting cost.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss)
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RA&=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4 AN K REFREER
Financial Statements and Material BERAGTHERER #)

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, including costs
of testing whether the related assets is functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for
as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RA&=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. A MEHREFHREER

Financial Statements and Material BEXGEFTHEER 2
Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) ERSHBERER(E)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values, adjusted
to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Club debentures

Club debentures with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

A club debenture is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of a club debenture, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RAF%=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4 AN K BREFREER
Financial Statements and Material BERGTHERER »)

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and club debentures
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Club debentures with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and club debentures
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and club debentures (Continued)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(o) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RA&=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. A MEHREFHREER

Financial Statements and Material BERAGTHERER #)
Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) ERSHBERER(E)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RAF%=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4 AN K BREFREER
Financial Statements and Material BERGTHERER »)

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost
and debt instruments subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RA&=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. A MEHREFHREER

Financial Statements and Material EXSTHHRER )
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAESHBEEH(E)
Financial instruments (Continued) TEITA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)
Classification and subsequent measurement of SREEZNERBEFE(E)
financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI iy DEAEAFEFAEMLZE
i 2 BB TE

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI as
a result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
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comprehensive income and accumulated under IR 1% & E R EIE T 2

the heading of investment revaluation reserve.
Impairment allowances are recognised in profit
or loss with corresponding adjustment to other
comprehensive income without reducing the
carrying amounts of these debt instruments.
When these debt instruments are derecognised,
the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RAF%=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4 AN K BREFREER
Financial Statements and Material BERGTHERER »)

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9
The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, debt
instruments at FVTOCI, short-term deposits, and
bank balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RAF%=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4 AN K BREFREER
Financial Statements and Material BERGTHERER »)

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per
globally understood definitions.

3.2 EASHBREENE)

2T AE)
eHEEE)
BRIER BB RE LR FOR AR
IZEMEERMEE)
(i) EERKREZLME)
e BBANKEEEE
SE B L HBHE %
EERER

. BEBAMEET  GFE
T TS LR
AR REEA
THED  SHES
A B 18 18 B ) B B K
5 -

Tim LA FF AR -
BHAMNFERNEBEI0R - K
%lkﬁmﬁm*ﬁwux
SERBREBEEN BRI
$%!¥ﬁﬂ¢%@%%é
BEM - ERERALIEALL

BEML - WEKIAERR
HSHETAEEERRE - 8
REBEREZ B VAERE -
BB TEMNEERRI KA
EZN - Wi ELORBIK
iNfEEAEBBRANENE
TEREHRAGHNRERE
£ RihVREME @ &BK
AR TR &b A] g (B
T—EeREEEARITHE
AR REEMTNES
WF%IE EAEEKEE
o IRIEEIRIB A E
% K%E%ﬁmﬁﬁ%%
EEFAA RERA I
BIER T ANEERRKIE -



For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RAF%=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4 AN K BREFREER
Financial Statements and Material BERGTHERER »)

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RA&=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4 AN K BREFREER
Financial Statements and Material BERAGTHERER #)

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over one year past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix
taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RAF%=A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. 4 AN K BREFREER
Financial Statements and Material BERGTHERER »)

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward looking
macroeconomic information including gross
domestic product growth, unemployment rate,
non-performing loan and broad money supply
growth.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve without reducing the carrying amounts
of these debt instruments. Such amounts
represents the changes in the investment
revaluation reserves in relation to accumulated
loss allowance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including secured bank loan,
trade payables and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognise financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of
the Company have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s investment property portfolios in Hong Kong
and the PRC, and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties in Hong Kong are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties in Hong Kong,
the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The Group
has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties in Hong Kong as the Group
is not subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes
of the investment properties on disposal.

The directors of the Company concluded that the Group’s
investment properties in the PRC are held under a business
model whose objective is to earn rental which consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties in
the PRC, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. The Group
has recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties in the PRC as the Group is subject
to income tax rate of 25% on the fair value changes of the
investment properties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s investment
properties are stated at fair value of HK$382,789,000
(2024: HK$429,752,000) based on the valuation performed
by a firm of independent qualified professional surveyors.

In determining the fair value of investment properties
located in Hong Kong, surveyors have used the direct
comparison method which involves estimation of market
unit rate of comparable properties and adjustment factors
such as size, view, location and floor level of properties
and timing of the comparable transactions. Fair value of
investment properties located in the PRC was determined
based on term and reversion analysis of investment method
by capitalising rental income on a basis having regard to
the current passing rental income from existing tenancy
and the potential reversionary rental income at market
level and vacancy rate, with key inputs including rental in
reversionary period and yield.

In relying on the valuation reports, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the methods of valuations are reflective of the
current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Note 13 provides detailed information about the
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of investment properties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

Revenue and Segment Information

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
and revenue recognition policies

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing
and trading of household electrical appliances. Revenue of
the Group is sales of household electrical appliances and
the revenue is recognised at one point in time. Revenue
is recognised when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been departed from specific
location. Transportation and handling activities that
occur before customers obtain control are considered as
fulfilment activities. Following the delivery, the customer
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price
to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the goods.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all received purchase
orders are expected to be completed within 1 year.

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors
(the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on geographical regions.

The Group is currently organised into four operating
divisions - Europe sales, Asia sales, America sales and
other regions sales. The information reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of performance is
based on these operating divisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025

5. Revenue and Segment Information

(Continued)

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results for each of the reportable and operating segments.

Year ended 31 March 2025

Segment revenue (Note a)

Segment loss

Other gains and losses
(except net foreign exchange loss)
Depreciation
Loss on fair value changes
of investment properties
Finance costs
Impairment loss under ECL model, net

Unallocated income and expenses,
net (Note b)

Loss before tax

REPBHRESME

BE_T-AF=A=t—AILFE

5. EXHBERIHER &)

DERERER XA
AT TRERNEB LA 28, R &ED B
M EH c ERBREEELZOM

BE-—E-_AF=A=1+—HLEE

Other
Europe Asia America regions  Consolidated
B I eyl EHE 58
HK$:000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FEn FEn FEn FEn Az
PEEEB(Wita) 68,933 81,331 296,581 18,325 465,170
A8ER (10,257) (12,101) (44,129) (2,727) (69,214)
BB RER
(SEEEFERD) 231
i (1,903)
RENZ 2 ATER
FEENER (45,258)
H%ER (434)
BHEEEREL THRE
EB3E (134)
APRMARFZFE
(Hritb) 22,533
BRAEE (94,179)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

EEERDHER &)

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5.
(Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024

DREXEREE(E)
BE_Z_MF=-A=1+—HILFE

Other
Europe Asia America regions  Consolidated
BN Eyl £l EtiE fa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TAT TET
Segment revenue (Note a) PEEEB(Wita) 116,175 36,819 323,692 8,077 484,763
Segment loss PHER (6,736) (2,135) (18,767) (468) (28,106)
Other gains and losses RN RER
(except net foreign exchange l0ss) (SNEBEFERIN) 384
Depreciation ik (2,258)
Loss on fair value changes BENEL NTEES
of investment properties FEEMER (69,143)
Finance costs HEER (697)
Impairment loss under ECL model, net RECEHBERTH
REBEFE (158)
Unallocated income and expenses, KORMARES 38
net (Note b) (fizp) 27,855
Loss before tax BRAEE (12,123)
Notes: Wizt -

a) The allocation of segment revenue is determined based on
destinations of shipment of products.

b) Unallocated income and expenses mainly represented
certain other income, central administration costs and

directors’ salaries.

a) OWMEXBENSIERERERMNOME
B H)3  #EE

b) AOERARMXTERERELEAM
WA - FRITHREAREEHS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #ZR &S B &R E EMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z_RE=A=+—RHIFE

(Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting
policies. Segment loss represents the loss from each
segment without allocation of certain other income,
central administration costs and directors’ salaries, other
gains and losses (except net foreign exchange loss),
depreciation, loss on fair value changes of investment
properties, finance costs, impairment loss under ECL
model, net. This is the measure reported to the Group’s
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. Revenue

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. BXZERISHER »)

DREXBEREE(E)
AEHREBEIHZETBRRAEEES
AR - D RMEEE S D EE
ERWARDERLEEMKA - RRITH
ERkESHT HtBF REEMNE
BIRFERIN)  WE - REMEZRF
EEBAELNER  MEEMR  BH
EEBRRI THRERBRFEE ° it
AEREEEIZLERRALER  F
BAEERD BN FZRE - Ll frdE
ZEXBIBINBECELN - EM
FRILARBHZEDAHE -

reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in

both years.
Segment assets and liabilities STEEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AR ARERIZA] 2B LED DN
liabilities by reportable and operating segment: EERBEER :
Segment assets PEEE
2025 2024
—ESE-RE —EOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Europe &M 27,664 31,274
Asia W 11,000 14,207
America E 92,343 83,087
Other regions Hibih = 5,111 2,107
Segment assets DEEE 136,118 130,675
Unallocated assets ROBLEE
Financial assets as FVTPL BBERRAFETE
ZHKEE - 1,540
Debt instruments at FVTOCI WMAFESAHMET
WamzEBTA - 7,745
Short-term deposits RHITFER 225,897 304,696
Bank balances and cash RITHEFLRRS 147,493 174,556
Investment properties "EMSE 382,789 429,752
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NRE 3,603 3,785
Other receivables H i fE ULBR R 27,051 24,803
Other unallocated assets (Note) Hik DB EE (K iE) 14,656 14,809
Consolidated assets REBE 937,607 1,092,361

Note: Other unallocated assets comprised tax recoverable, club
debentures, right-of-use assets and deferred tax assets.

Wat Bt RO REAERERERER 5%
A% ERREERELCHAEE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025

5. Revenue and Segment Information

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment liabilities

Europe

Asia

America
Other regions

Segment liabilities (Note)
Unallocated liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Secured bank loan
Tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Consolidated liabilities

Note: Segment liabilities represented mould deposits received by

each segment.

REUBRES

B &E

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

5. EXHBERIHER &)

PHREEREE(E)
PEHERE
2025 2024
—E-RF —EmF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FA&T
&M 3,348 4,580
M 3,950 1,451
EM 14,403 12,762
E i [E 890 318
HESBEME) 22,591 19,111
RO AE
BB SRR 55,975 53,608
F M JE AN BR R R AN AR AN 74,804 72,722
BEBRITER 5,541 10,665
MIEAE 32,671 33,291
BEERIBEA R 28,695 31,957
ARG 220,277 221,354

Wat - R EERE—D

FEWEARTS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are
as follows:

Customer A (Europe, Asia, America and
Other regions) MR E A [E )
Customer B (Europe, Asia, America and
Other regions) EMN R H b b )
Customer C (Europe, Asia, America and
Other regions) FM B E At 3 [ )
Customer D (Europe, Asia, America and
FM B E At 3 [ )

Other regions)

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets,
excluding debt instruments at FVTOCI and deferred tax
assets, is presented based on the geographical location of

the assets.
Hong Kong aBE
The PRC A
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PR EE M

2T _HFE=A=+—HIEE

EEHERDTHER =)

TEEFHNEHR
AEEERPEBMAEXEI0%HIA L
MEPEXEWT

2025 2024
—EBE-RHE —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
146,068 124,695
130,321 200,916
95,741 66,909
53,185 50,727

HEE R
AEEZZ2BHHRBERPEARHK
ME([HED) -

BRAAKEZIERBDEE(RAFERA
Hiemla B TAELEHREE
ERINEEREEMEMEMZ7

2025 2024
—E-REF —ENF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
208,744 246,329
191,389 201,133
400,133 447,462




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & BI#& 3R EZ M=%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z_RAF=-A=+—HLEFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. BXZERISHER »)

(Continued)
Other segment information H o EBE R
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_E-_HF=A=1+—HILEE
Other Total
Europe Asia America regions segment  Unallocated Consolidated
B | EY| HibhE AHAE KR a&
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAT AT AT AT FET AT
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision LB ERREREIEEERRAL
maker but not included in the measure of segment profit or ERBERFdEs R EBE DS
loss or segment assets: BEE
Interest income on BOEHZ
bank deposits FEBA - - - - - 12,874 12,874
Interest income on EEIAZ
debt instruments S WA - - - - - 143 143
Rental income HEWA - - - - - 16,652 16,652
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HLFE
Other Total
Europe Asia America regions segment  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
BRA EEb) M EtiE PHEE FAE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TE7 TA TET TET TE7 TA7 TAT
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision LHEEHREGFECERKAL
maker but not included in the measure of segment profit or BB ERFTED 8% Fl sk B8 =k 5 56
loss or segment assets: BE
Interest income on ROBEHL
bank deposits FIEWA - - - - - 17,262 17,262
Interest income on EBIAZ
debt instruments FEMA - - - - - 362 362
Rental income e WA - - - - - 17,259 17,259
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REPBHRESME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BHE_ZE_RE=A=+—HItEE
6. Other Income 6. HMEWA

2025 2024
—E-RHE —ToE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Rental income WA 16,652 17,259
Interest income FE WA 13,017 17,624
Building management fee income EFEEEBRA 6,157 6,272
Scrap sales REHIHE 208 259
Government grants (Note) BN e (MfaE) 9 5
Others Hh 67 4,860
36,110 46,279

Note: The Group recognised government assistance and tax Bitat - AN SR B A R R B R FRAR B 1Y BUAT 4R
refunds of approximately HK$9,000 (2024: HK$5,000) in the PRERBHITHET(ZTE_MF : 5F
PRC during the year. There are no unfulfilled conditions or HBIT) o BLRFBIE TEERME NG
contingencies in relation to these grants. R TEEE -

7. HbBAREE

7. Other Gains and Losses

2025 2024
—E-RHF ZEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Net foreign exchange loss SNE B I8R5 (2,056) (1,106)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BERZEREF
plant and equipment 125 180
Write-off of property, plant and Y - S KRR EMBR
equipment (7) -
Cumulative gain (loss) reclassified HEZRATFEFAEM
from investment revaluation reserve ZHEKE 2 EBHTHERA
upon disposal of debt instruments HEELREEBEETHE
at FVTOCI B RET B (EE) 69 (24)
Net gain on fair value changes of FERBEmEATEFEZ
financial assets at FVTPL PBEEATFEZEEA
EEZ BN (EE)FH 48 231
Others EAh (4) )
(1,825) (722)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and

Employees’ Emoluments

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

HE—-Z

—HE=A=+t—HItEE

8. EE FETBAERE

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the

year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing

Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is

as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Note 2)
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin

Total

HTES
FRBEL(HE2)
K} _@tt
%ﬁﬁi
BUFYTES
REHLE

E3mat
¥y

B8

Fee

fig
HK$'000
FET

120
120
120

360

S E

(a) EERFETHAEME

FRAREFERN EMARRREE

NAMEPIBRBENESE R EEZTHA
SErMEMT
8 —EF=A=+-AL
FE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
benefits Bonus contribution Total
HeR BIKEA
AR A AEER it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK’000 HK$’000
TEx TEx Téx TEx
(Note 1)
(Wt1)
2,078 165 198 2,441
1,436 120 144 1,700
1,265 104 125 1,494
984 9 108 1,182
- - - 120
- - - 120
- - - 120
5,763 479 575 7177
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

REPBHRESME

BE_T-AF=A=t—AILFE

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and 8. EE - FETHAERE
Employees’ Emoluments (continued) EME s
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () EBRTIETBAEME(E)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE_ZT_NWE=/A=+—H1t
FE

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fee benefits Bonus  contribution Total
T RN
ika Etbfa A BEGS &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’000 HK$'000
FiET FiET FiET FiET FiET
(Note 1)
(Hrzt1)
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BITES
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Note 2) KR (HE2) - 1,970 165 198 2,333
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie REY QT - 1,440 120 144 1,704
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie Rzt - 1,238 104 125 1,467
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William R ATEL = 1,176 90 108 1,374
INDEPENDENT NON- BUFHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon R & 120 - - - 120
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan EEHTL 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lo Chor Cheong, Colin ERMEE 120 - - - 120
Total E 360 5,824 479 575 7,238
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)
Notes:

(M

@)

The bonus is determined with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Group.

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan is the managing director of
the Company and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the
managing director. The board of directors considered
that the duties of the managing director were no
different from that required of a chief executive
stipulated. The management of the Company would
regard that the term of managing director of the
Company will have the same meaning as the chief
executive of the Company.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

No directors waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during both years.

e BRESMHEE

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

8. EE - FETHAERE
EME s

(a) EERFETHRAEME(E)

Azt -

(1

TEALTIRIBER A T R EBRKR
RTE e

RERELETRARBZESZLE
B R EmREZMEHEE
IERRHEERLERE 2B
B-BZaR5 EFRLEMD
BEETHREHRENBRER
FEAR - RRARERERERR
ARRREFEEIZNETEARAR
AITREZENEHEER -

BT EEMEARERHAE
BARRRAEEEBHH R
BT IRTESHERRE
EREERARAIRERE 2B
Jis I

EMFALBEEHEEAME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 included four directors
(2024: four directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out above.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
remuneration of the one highest paid employee

)

B35 S M
+

HE-_ZT—-Hh

F=A=+—HILFE

8. EE - FETHAERE
EME s

(b)

EEME
BE_T_AF=-A=t+—HL*F
B AEEIUSEHFSEERRE
ARBER(ZFT_F 4BESR)
H I8N EX -

HE T -_RAFEK-_ZT_NF=A
Zt—HILEFE  WFEARRES

who is neither a director nor chief executive of the FITHBEN &= EEE RN E BT
Company is as follows: I

2025 2024

—E-FHE —T-UF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Salaries and other allowances %‘?/i\&ﬁi\@,iﬁﬁ 1,392 1,392

Discretionary bonus BT 116 116

Retirement benefit scheme contribution E{Kk% aaﬂ FTEIHE R 139 139

1,647 1,647

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
number of the one highest paid employee who is not
the director of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following band is as follows:

HE_Z-_AFK-_ZT_NF=A
=+—HIEFE EH—RIEEARQ
REENGRESTENEBHENTE
Bl

2025 2024
—E-HE —EMF
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHE EE8#E
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 L2
2,000,000/ 7T 1 1

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and five highest paid employees as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & BI#& 3R EZ M=%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 EE_RAF=-A=1+—HIFE

~
7

i

9. Income Tax Expense (Credit) 9. FIEFHEX(ER)
2025 2024
—E-RE —EpUE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Current tax: RNEEHIE :
Hong Kong E55 220 436
PRC Enterprise Income Tax RS 2,664 2,714
2,884 3,150
Overprovision in prior years: BEFEAEREG
Hong Kong 55 (263) (468)
Deferred tax (Note 25) EERIR (M at25) (664) (5,674)
1,957 (2,992)
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong EEAMBHNEREGFET - 64
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying BEREE R H2008 B T HE g%
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above 8.25% K BT - M2008 B T L
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group M EEIZ16.5%MBEREF - T4
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates A AR ) ) 45 0 2= 6 R SR B B R AR A
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. HBEIR16.5% M — M EET - Bt -
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying EEREEERNABNEHIRGEE
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 of AR R A A B 2008 B 1R 8.25% H
million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on K 8 #8200 8 74 JT 89 & 5t FE SR B o A ik
the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. 16.5%5T & °
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the BIERBEPEMGERAREBED -
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, BRAAMEFEZEZELEMSHA
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. 25% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

9. Income Tax Expense (Credit)
(Continued)

The tax charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

REPBHRESME

BE_T-AF=A=t—AILFE

9. MEHBMAX(ER) =

RER BB (KR ) A HEERS B
SshEMEPEXHRAZEHAEBEER

loss and other comprehensive expense as follows: HERMT -
2025 2024
—E-RE —E_F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before tax B AT E 1R (94,179) (72,123)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax BREBNERHE16.5%
rate of 16.5% (15,540) (11,900)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR 2 B X 8
for tax purpose METE 13,003 13,230
Tax effect of income not taxable for IR 2 WA
tax purpose 2 (1,975) (3,229)
Effect of different tax rates of BB N B PA R B AR i
subsidiaries operating in the PRC TREME 2 & 906 (1,374)
Overprovision in prior years BEFERERE (263) (468)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRERFRIAEIEZ FE 3,818 2,705
Utilisation of tax losses previously ZRIARMERT AR
not recognised Z1E R (80) (234)
Others i 2,088 (1,722)
Income tax expense (credit) for the year ANFEFIARZ (EE) 1,957 (2,992)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %45 & B 7 3R & £ i
For the year ended 31 March 2025 EE_RAF=-A=1+—HIFE

i

10. Loss for the Year 10. X FEEEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EpUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHHT

Loss for the year has been arrived at REEZBHBEEHK (GTA)
after charging (crediting): THI&IE :

Employee benefit expenses, including ETRA(BREESEHE)
directors’ remunerations (Note 8)

— Salaries and allowances — BT H B K&ER 145,039 147,009
— Retirement benefit — RRRHAET B R
scheme contributions 13,131 12,552
Total employee benefit expenses @8 TR 158,170 159,561
Less: amount capitalised in inventories & : FEE N %E (3,918) (8,733)
154,252 155,828
Depreciation of property, M BERZERE
plant and equipment 1,719 2,075
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BEFEAETE 184 183
Total depreciation wITE 1,903 2,258
Gross rental income from BEMEN BB WA
investment properties (16,652) (17,259)
Less: direct operating expenses B FARAEEESRARN
incurred for investment properties that R EMEMELH
generated rental income during the year BE#Z ZEFR X 984 931
(15,668) (16,328)
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN BN € 2,106 2,081
Cost of inventories recognised as an FEXRAWER AR (B
expense (including allowance for FEBREFHEE
inventory provision, net amounting 54783 FHE (=T
to HK$5,473,000 (2024: reversal of FHFEBELRIES
allowance for inventory provision, net 1986T47T))
amounting to HK$196,000)) 453,535 445,229
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & B #& 3R EZ M=%
_|_

For the year ended 31 March 2025

11.Dividends

Dividends for ordinary shareholders of
the Company recognised
as distribution during the year:
— 2025 interim dividend of HK2 cents
(2024: 2024 interim dividend of
HK2 cents) per share

— 2025 interim special dividend of nil
cents (2024: 2024 interim special
dividend of HK13 cents) per share

— 2024 final dividend of HK2 cents
(2024: 2023 final dividend of nil
cents) per share

— 2024 special dividend of HK13 cents
(2024: 2023 special dividend of nil
cents) per share

The board of directors does not propose a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2024 of HK2 cents

BE_Z-_RAF=A=+—HItFE

11. R E
2025 2024
—E-HEF —TmEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FA&T
RIKZETARAFZ
LmARAR R 2 AR B
—ZE_hFHEHREGR
2B =B
—EPFFRHERE
FR2ENN) 6,661 6,661
_7_£$aﬁ¢%
RE(ZEZHEF -
7?7m¢¢@%w
BER13E5) - 43,297
;?;m¢$$kgth
2A(ZE =4 -
—E-=FRKF
2) 6,661 =
—_Y_Eﬁ%ﬂk%th
1&ﬁm_? PO -
:fﬁ/ﬂﬁ
%5 43,297 =
56,619 49,958

EFeTHARBEBEE_T_HF=
A=+—BLFEREES(ZE_-M
FOHE-T-_MF= ﬂ T—HILF

per ordinary share, in aggregate amount of HK$6,661,000, ERBREFR2E - L% A6665 1

and a special dividend in respect of the year ended 31

:F/%E&@Z:t—v—mi A=+—H

March 2024 of HK13 cents per ordinary share, in aggregate EFEEERREERISEN  B2ER

amount of HK$43,297,000, respectively).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

12.Loss Per Share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

SEPBHRESME

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

12.BRE#E

SR AR D ARG ANEREEZ
SHE TV RIRLA T AR ¢

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per  SERERNEIEMS 2 EE
share (loss for the year attributable to (REEAI D BELAEARRF]

owners of the Company) HHEAZEE)

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
(96,136) (69,131)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary MERELREENS Z
shares for the purpose of basic B k9 & B

loss per share

No diluted loss per share has been presented for both
years as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares in
issue.

B2
2025 2024
—E-RE —ETOF
’000 ‘000
FR Fh&
333,055 333,055

EMFRERERTECEE LB
U2 B 5 F g S -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & B #& 3R EZ M=%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z_RE=A=+—RHIFE

13. REW

13. Investment Properties

The Group leases out various offices, car parks and
manufacturing plants under operating leases with rentals
receivable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed
period of 1 to 3 years (2024: 1 to 3 years) and the lease
payments are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of lease term.

The Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals are measured using fair value model and
are classified and accounted for as investment properties.
These investment properties are manufacturing plants,
office units and car park spacing.

FAIR VALUE A¥E
Balance at beginning of year FUEEH

Net decrease in fair values recognised A F{EE ETE S
FRERIBRER

in profit or loss

Exchange adjustments ME 5, 58 B
Balance at end of year FREH

AEENZEEHENTALBEZARR
= BUMERE  SARNESR -
HEBRERP—E=F(ZT-_WF : —
E=F) HENREHEHAREE -

HRAAEESUEEERES BHNIIE
EEFE BAKEIEREERHEM
EFINEER  HEARTESEERE
R/ HAEBAANEHERRBEZYE
B R IEHE -

AEEKEHENRDNESN Y EER
DERARFEREAE  UHEARE
MEME EUREVEBRHEER
B BF@EMEL -

Unrealised loss on investment property E8ZBHmAZAEREE

WEREHER

revaluation included in profit or loss

116 Allan International Holdings Limited TR @ B[R &£ B H R A T

2025 2024
—EBE-RHE —E-pF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
429,752 512,990
(45,258) (69,143)
(1,705) (14,095)
382,789 429,752
(45,258) (69,143)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R &S B i& R E EMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_ T _HAE=A=1t—HILFE

13. Investment Properties (continued)

13. REWHE »)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by
RHL Appraisal Ltd., an independent qualified professional
surveyors not connected to the Group.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties,
the directors of the Company work closely with qualified
professional surveyors to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

REBREMER_ZE_HAFR_E
“HFE=ZA=+—BMNATFETREK
FMITHEERERAR (—EBIEXS
B EERMTEAEERIFRE)NEB
HEAEITRIEES D -

EHEMEEDENRAFER - NAFE
FHSERNEXRNEMBEESE - I
BMEENBERDMAERA -

In estimating the fair value of the investment property, the TEEEMEN AL F{EH% R EYER
highest and best use of the investment property is their S hEERGRAHERRAS -

current use.

The valuation of the investment properties in Hong Kong, ERKEMENGEBRAFERBXRES

which falls under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, has
been arrived at by using direct comparison method
by reference to market evidence of transaction prices
for properties in the similar locations and conditions.
The valuation of the investment properties in the PRC,
which falls under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, has
been arrived at by using term and reversion analysis of
investment method by capitalising rental income and the
potential reversionary rental income at market level and
adjusted to vacancy rate.

A CERBEERLBE  U2EZHRM
GG TRUDENRZEROT S
BRGH  c HNTFEREVENGEER
RAFEBRER  DBEEHREHR
ﬂ@ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ - EHSBARETS
KFFAREEXBEERBHSBAER
e, <
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & B #& 3R EZ M=%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—_ZT-_hAF=-A=+—HLFE
13.Investment Properties (continueq) 13. REWE )
Relationship of unobservable
Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value
RERS EXTABEZHASY TUBEZHASBEATEZBE
Office units in Hong Kong Direct comparison The recent market unit rate of comparable A significant decrease in the recent
2025: HK$194,000,000 transactions, adjusted by size, view market unit rate (adjusted by size, view
2024: HK$231,000,000 and floor level of property, timing of and floor level of property, timing of
comparable transactions, etc., of comparable transactions) used would
approximately HK$17,000 per square result in a significant decrease in fair

foot (2024: approximately HK$20,000 per value, and vice versa.
square foot)

IR EBNEFE BRI REHTHER  HAENER - REN ERNMSER(REENAR  RBM
ZZZRE 194008 AT BEKTURTLENR FHEASHE - BEKTURTLERNR HREE
ZTIME 20831008 AT miZENER AT T ARE17,0008T HE)MEETRESHATEN
(ZZ=]mF : FHRH20,000%7T) BETHE RZMA -
Car park spacing in Hong Kong  Direct comparison The recent market unit rate of comparable A significant decrease in the recent
2025: HK$4,000,000 transactions, adjusted by timing of the market unit rate (adjusted by timing
2024: HK$5,000,000 comparable transactions and location of of the comparable transactions and
the car park spacing, of HK$2,000,000 location) used would result in a
gach (2024: HK$2,500,000 each) significant decrease in fair value, and
vice versa.
ﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁ@@* BERER REHTHER - BULRORSEEN RROTHER(ATLERNR HBEN
ZECRF4008BT B BETHE  BEA2008%T REETARMEE TREERATE
“ZCWF  5008B T (ZT-IF : B{H508%TT) WBE TR RZHA -
Manufacturing plants in the PRC ~ Term and reversion The monthly market rent of comparable A significant decrease in the monthly
2025: HK$184,789,000 analysis of transactions, adjusted by rental in market rent (adjusted by rental in
2024: HK$193,752,000 investment approach reversionary period and yield, of RMB13.74  reversionary period and yield) of
per square meter (approximately HK$14.70  comparable transactions used would
per square meter) (2024: RMB13.91 per result in a significant decrease in fair
square meter (approximately HK$15.02 value, and vice versa.
per square meter))
fir i BBV BE R REBBAESH BREATHES - BEMSKT HEEN FREEATEHE (RETHKT HE
ZECRF 1847889 TR GEHSRARDERRE - FATHHES ENGEHeKARDRER)NE
—ZCWF  1E937582TE R RETARIBTATARE(BTRARA ETRASHATENBETR R
147087)(ZF-0F : BFHK TR ©
13 TARK (BT HARA15.0287))
There were no transfers into or out of level 3 during the RERNE=RI A Ay o
year.
The Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong were NEBESBHEEYED EEIB - A
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group at ERARNEEEEREENTATETF
the end of both years as disclosed in Note 24. REBEHRITRE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

CosT

At 1 April 2023
Exchange adjustments
Disposals/write-off

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Exchange adjustments
Adaitions
Disposals/write-off

At 31 March 2025

DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023
Exchange adjustments
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals/
write-off

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Exchange adjustments
Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals/
write-off

At 31 March 2025

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024

SEPBHRESME

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

14. 9% - BERRE

Furniture,
Office Factory  Plantand fixtures and Moulds Motor
buildings  buildings  machinery  equipment  and tools vehicles Total
BE#RfE HE %EB
[CEZ: LI R#E ki HARIA RE &it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TA TA7x TE7 FE7 A TE TA7
RAE
RZEZ=4NA-H 1,019 74,592 254,628 81,650 20,772 7,008 439,669
SMEFE - (1,436) (10,689) (2,637) (83) (137) (14,982)
e /Hik - - (13,804) (2,693) - (2,704) (19,201
RZZZ|E
ZA=t-BEk
“Z-NEmA-A 1,019 73,156 230,135 76,320 20,689 4,167 405,486
MEFE - (205) (1,214) (150) (1) (14) (1,594)
AE - - - 5 - 1,769 1,774
HE /Wi - - (2,612) (3,660) 6) (2,733) (9,011)
R-Z-1%
=A=t-H 1,019 72,951 226,309 72,515 20,672 3,189 396,655
HERHE
N-B-=FMA—H 1,019 74,063 248,901 81,650 20,772 6,681 433,086
MMEFE - (1,436) (9,969) (2,637) (83) (134) (14,259)
AEERE - 46 1,893 = = 136 2,075
E/ MEREE A
- - (13,804) (2,693) - (2,704) (19,201)
RZEZPF
ZA=t-RARk
“E-NERA-A 1,019 72,673 227,021 76,320 20,689 3,979 401,701
MEFE - (205) (1,157) (150) (1) 1) (1,530)
REREE - 46 1,445 - - 228 1,719
HE /MBI H 8
- - (2,605) (3,655) 6) (2,572) (8,838)
R-B-RF
=A=t-H 1,019 72,514 224,704 72,515 20,672 1,628 393,052
EEE
RZE-RE
=h=t-H - 437 1,605 - - 1,561 3,603
RZZZME
=R=1+-H - 483 3,114 - - 188 3,785
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

14. Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Office buildings and factory buildings I %EF R T %

REPBHRESME

HE_Z_RAF=-A=+—HItEFEE

14. 9% BMERRKE 2

LREENE BERRBZFEEE
BEERETNIIFRERELE

4% or over the lease term, if shorter
4% AT E A (N8R )

Plant and machinery iR 55 55 1 M i B8 15%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment RE - HEREE 20-33"/3%
Moulds and tools RARTHE 20-33"/5%
Motor vehicles JAE 20%
15. Right-of-Use Assets 15. EAREE

Leasehold
Lands
HELH
HK$’'000
FET

CARRYING VALUES BRTEIE
At 1 April 2023 R-—ZE-_=FMHA—H 3,765
Depreciation charge HEER (183)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_mME=R=+—H 3,582
Depreciation charge heE®H (184)
At 31 March 2025 RZFE_RAF=HA=+—H 3,398
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

15. Right-of-Use Assets (continued)

e BRESMHEE

BE_ZE-_hFE=A=+—RHILEE

15. FAREEE »

2025 2024

ZECZHF —TomE

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Expense relating to short-term leases EHHENEHEER 4,054 4,005
Expense relating to leases of low-value KEBEEAEHBENEBE

assets,excluding short-term leases of TEEEREBEEERN
low-value assets EEHE 20 21
Total cash outflow for leases HEMR &ML ETE 4,074 4,026

For both years, the Group leases several factory and office
buildings for its operations. Lease contracts, including
leasehold lands, are entered into for fixed terms of 1 year
to 912 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

The Group owns several factory buildings in the PRC where
its manufacturing plants and warehouses are primarily
located. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold land.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are presented separately only if the
payments made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
office premises. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

KRMEFE  AEBEESBERE MR
NREELE - HESHN(REHEHEL )
ZEEHRA1FR912F - HEKRHIR
BEMNBLEAEE  ETE=8BT
Rl 2 R R fjtt - AEBEREEHEE

REFGETAIBEZARE RAAH
ZERLHEE AR RBIMITZHR -

AEEETEEAZERE  TE/E
ENEMERER - AEEREEME
s (B EEREA fii’@)Z%%ﬂ%%ﬁ
A e BRAMEL —RENRAKE LS
E:F /\ﬁ%_tfiﬁmlﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%’]—ffﬁ
PEMBERLT  ELEAVMENHES
Mo AKX ER D & 3 B SIHR -

AEETHARAEIIZLCHEE - B
TE_RAFR_E_NMF=ZA=+—
B rRiffHgdeE FiiNEEHHEE

B ENERBEESHEL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

ey

BHE—

~
/

S BRESHE

E_RAFE=A=+—BHILFE

15. Right-of-Use Assets (continued) 15. EHEEE @
Restrictions or covenants on leases HERHEREZD
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, right-of-use assets of EA:Zfﬁi)}:%@:EEEH EF=
approximately HK$3,398,000 and HK$3,582,000 are DRIEREAEEELNIBIESTH
recognised, respectively, with no lease liabilities as 7_5&3581%2?;‘%73 cBREMARENAE
being settled. The lease agreements do not impose any EEEMERESIN RAECEHENMR
covenants. Leased assets may not be used as security for EE8E - HEWETHMEMELY - T8
borrowing purposes. EEENSHEEERENER -
16. Club Debentures 16. 2E£E >
HK$’'000
T
CARRYING VALUE IREE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and RZE-_=FMHA—H - —ZE_OF
31 March 2025 A=+ AKRZE_RQF
—A=+—H 10,343
The club debentures with indefinite useful lives are tested EHRNSEESNEFSERERR
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication ke ﬁ&j%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ{/ﬁjﬁz@ o AN H]
that they may be impaired. The directors of the Company EERELXEMEEE - 258 A B E
are of the opinion that no impairment indication was PR o
identified with reference to market value.
17.Inventories 17. &
2025 2024
—E-AHF —EMMEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Raw materials R K} 14,002 10,837
Work in progress ek 8,356 9,110
Finished goods BB i 19,374 17,603
41,732 37,550
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #ZR &S B REE

B &E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z_RAF=-A=+—HLEFE
H =,
18.Trade and Other Receivables 18. ElNE S IR R HEIR
=k
E’EZFA
2025 2024
—E-RF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables — sales of goods EIWESEFT—EREE 91,669 91,461
Less: Allowance for credit loss W EEEERE (590) (456)
91,079 91,005
Other receivables (Note) Hth R UL BR SR (AT aE) 27,051 24,803
Total trade and other receivables FEUWE SRR R HAM
FE U AR SR B 58 118,130 115,808
Note: As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s other receivables mainly Wi R-_T_AF=A=+—R0  AKH
include value added tax recoverable of HK$13,823,000 R EAMEREE R EE81E1,38283F
(2024: HK$13,185,000), which will be recovered within one B (=T _MF : 1,31885T A L)
year. Z AW B ER R AR —FERR
@ °

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with RZE-_=FMWA—H  BEFZEFH

customers amounted to HK$73,266,000. ERIMNEWERF A7,32686 T BT °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & B #& 3R EZ M=%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z_RE=A=+—RHIFE

18. Trade and Other Receivables 18. EWWE ZERF R HFEY

(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the invoice dates:

0 - 90 days 0-90H
91 - 120 days 91-120H
Over 120 days Hi®120H

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregated carrying
amount of HK$1,981,000 (2024: HK$18,088,000) which
are past due at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, HK$281,000 (2024: HK$1,271,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in
default because there had not been significant changes in
credit quality of the relevant debtors and the amounts are
still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 28(b).
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BRFX (@)

ATRREKEZEANHEBAERHE
HIRER ZIREDN

2025 2024
—E_RE —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
56,129 70,072
9,634 2,135
25,316 18,798
91,079 91,005

MN_ZBE-_RE=ZA=+—H8 A&£@EE
WE SEFBREEAES E19881 T4
TT(ZZ P4 : 1,80888TFHBT) 22
MEEUWER SR - EAIEIA SRR - 2881
FAET(ZZEZMHF - 127815 T)E
A0 KR B E KA - ARAEREER A
MNERAEELEERELAMER AR
W AT HRAEL - AEEWE
MZEERFEEMERD -

JFE U B 5 B8R 3 K E At E Uk BR FRAY R (B AT
HEIBERAMIFE28(b) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & BI#& 3R EZ M=%

For the year ended 31 March 2025

19. Financial Assets at FVTPL

20.

HEZZT_RAF=A=-1T—RHILFE

19. ZRERBAVEFEZ

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL: SR EERN M ERERE AT EE
2025 2024
—E-RF —EmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Debt instruments BB LA - 1,540
As at 31 March 2024, investment in unit-linked funds R-ZE_WF=ZA=+—H0  KERE
represent pool investments, comprising equity and debts fEHENES =i %x,éfiﬂ/\ B
securities in various markets. HMENREREEES
Debt Instruments at FVTOCI 20. B A FEFTAHMEZEK
mHNEBEIA
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Investment in listed debt instruments RZE_WMF=/=+—H8 -
with fixed interest rate from 3.37% to ITTEBIAREZEESF
4.25% per annum as at 31 March 2024 K% A3.37% % 4.25% A - 7,745
Analysed for reporting purposes based W& HTIRIFEIEE T AK
on maturity date of respective EIHA :
instruments as:
Current assets MEEE - 3,901
Non-current assets ERBEE - 3,844
- 7,745
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

21.Short-Term Deposits/Bank
Balances and Cash

(a)

(b)

Short-term deposits

Short-term deposits of HK$64,200,000 (2024:
HK$54,000,000) are deposits with original maturity
of more than three months and the remaining
HK$161,697,000 (2024: HK$250,696,000) are
deposits with original maturity within three months.
Short-term deposits placed with banks or financial
institution are for investment purpose. The short-
term deposits carry fixed interest rates with effective
interest rates ranging from 1.25% to 4.03% (2024:
1.29% to 5.56%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which
range from 0% to 0.38% (2024: 0% to 1%) per
annum.

Details of impairment assessment of short-term deposits

and bank balances are set out in Note 28(b).
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ﬁ-? = ,\717']’%$ EEME

A=+—BI&E

21. BHER RITEER
BE

(a)

(b)

RETF R R IRTITHE

BEER

REIFERG 42088 (=T 1
F 15,4008 %) RREIBAHEIR
=B AMFR - Her1186,16987
FEIT(ZZTZWF :2{85,06986
FHET)ARINBBEE=EARK
BT o FHERITHES BB ENE
HEFARKERN - RETFRIR
BEEBSRUERFEEFE - F8
B1.25%F4.03%( T 0 F :
1.29%E5.56%) °

RITHEERES
RITHAFEMISHEETE - 8
#0%ZE0.38% (—ZE P4 : 0%
E1%) °

FRERGEFBER

Mf7E28(b) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025

22.Trade Payables

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables

presented based on the invoice date.

0 - 90 days
91 - 120 days
Over 120 days

0-90H
91-120H
#83m120H

The credit period on purchase of goods is ranged from 30

to 90 days.

23. Other Payables and Accruals

Salaries, wages and staff welfare payable
Other payables and accruals

SEPBHRESME

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

22. ERE SRR

REZZAMEINZENEZERZE

BRI ©

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
55,132 47,031
360 5,993

483 584
55,975 53,608

KRB mERI OB EORZEE -

23. Ht B BRI K B R A

2025 2024

—E_RE —E_puE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

ENEHS  TEREERFT 58,653 54,920
ot B A BR SRR JE S R AN 16,151 17,802
74,804 72,722
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & B #& 3R EZ M=%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—_ZT-_hAF=-A=+—HLFE

interest at 1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) plus 0.8% per annum (2024: 1-month HIBOR
plus 0.8% per annum). As at 31 March 2025, the effective
interest rate on the Group’s borrowing is 4.60% per annum

(2024: 5.33% per annum).

As at 31 March 2025, bank loan of approximately
HK$5,541,000 (2024: approximately HK$10,665,000) is
secured by the Group’s investment properties with a fair
value HK$198,000,000 (2024: HK$236,000,000) (Note 13).
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24.Secured Bank Loan 24, BEAB/ITERK
2025 2024
—E-FHF ZEOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
The carrying amounts of secured bank  BIRMIRITER  A[EEZ
loan is repayable*: FREE"
Within one year —FA 5,124 5,124
Within a period of more than one year ~ ZR—%F (BB
but not exceeding two years GERE 417 5,124
Within a period of more than two years ZRHM4E - BT B8
but not exceeding five years AFHBER - 417
5,541 10,665
Less: Amounts due within one year W FIBRRIREAB Y
shown under current liabilities —FRNEREE (5,124) (5,124)
Amounts shown under non-current TIBRRIERBBEZ &
liabilities 417 5,541
o The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates * HffEReBmEERERBEMEZ
set out in the loan agreements. Z 58 8
The bank loan is variable-rate borrowing which carry RITERBIFHNE2EE  FEXAR

FBRITAEFRE(—EA)M0.8%(=
—mEF FRRTEAEZEFRE(—EA)
Mmo8%) - R—ZTE_RAF=HAH=+—
B AEEEREEFNESR4.60% (=
“OF - BEREEFNXRR5.833%)

RZZE-_RAF=ZA=+—H " RITEXR
#5548 1B T(ZF M4 - 491,066
E5THET)BEEREERBENMEIN
ANFEA1ES00E B (=T YF :
2183,600& BT ) fERR (KIFE13) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

25. Deferred Taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:

Deferred tax assets BT IBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBAE

The following are the deferred tax assets(liabilities)

SEPBHRESME

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

25, IEFE R 18

IEREMBMNERZE2IIME - ETE
EREEERBEDEE - UTRAR
ME2HmE N REHIBREHRIIT

2025 2024
—E_RHE —E-OFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT

631 787
(28,695) (31,957)
(28,064) (31,170)

RERBEFERIBELCHBEE(R

recognised and movements thereon during the current and BE)REZEHBERAT :
prior years:
Withholding
tax on
distributable
profit of Fair value
Accelerated  subsidiaries  changes on
tax operating investment
depreciation in the PRC properties Total
H Bl 8 )
mEHE  TIEEFN  REVEN
& ZENE  ATEESH B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FETL
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=FNA—H (5,349) (2,246) (29,249 (36,844)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss RERER (R E A (333) (248) 6,255 5,674
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 HZZ-MNMF=F=+—H
RZZ-MEWA-A (5,682) (2,494) (22,994) (81,170)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss RERE (R EA (798) (341) 1,803 664
Exchange adjustments - - 2,442 2,442
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RF=A=1+—H (6,480) (2,835) (18,749) (28,064)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

25.

26.

Deferred Taxation (continueq)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$67,199,000 (2024:
HK$44,670,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Included in unrecognised tax losses of HK$24,052,000
(2024: HK$13,714,000) will expire up to 2030 (2024:
2029). Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law in the PRC and implementation
regulations issued by the State Council, withholding tax
at 5% rate is imposed on dividends declared in respect
of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January
2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has been fully provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to retained profits of the
PRC subsidiaries.

Share Capital

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Authorised: 5
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2025

BERITAEE

i —

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2025
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2

BHE—

~
/

25.

26.

BIREEC10E T EEK

TE °
RZE-_=FWA—Q -
ZEZNF=R=+—H
&_¥_ﬁfﬁ:ﬂ:+*5

FHA—R
—T_ME=A=1—H
R—Z_AF¥=A=t—H

U |EE W

E-RFE=A=1+—HItFE
EEBIE &)

RABRERR  AEEBERSAOH
HEEG, 71989 T AT (ZE M4 :
44678 B L) A AR REF] o &
2 DA TE R AR B ROR - UK B Z BLIE
BRERRECHEEE

BRERERZHIEEE2,40582F 8 T
ZEFE 1,371 B4TET)BR =
E=FTEINH(ZE-_WMFE: —FE-Hh

F) - ERIAREE R L ERNE
REFECEABBOEN - RB BB
BMOERIEN  -_FTTENF—H—

BF® - AP EWE QRS FEm
IREE 7 BB, LAS % BTN FR AR UK -
EATEMERRRE BN NG REE
EMBSMNEEHBERGEMBHREA
TR G -

Number of
shares HK$’000
R &E FET
600,000,000 60,000
333,054,520 33,305




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

27.Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net cash,
which includes secured bank loan disclosed in Note 24,
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
other reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a quarterly basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the

issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

) ,\717']’%$ %%Bﬁ?

S

27. EXRE s E1E

AEEMEREARN SERRASEER
AIRBEEELE  WEBBCEBR

REFEABRRTREADER - AEE
ZEBRBEEFUR—BEEFIE -

AEBEARBREFRS 28K
?Eﬁﬂ@ﬁf% K(RHIEE24KE) - FRER

ReEEERARBHRRARBHED B
REREDBETRA  HtEEHREE R
o

ARAEFERFTERNEARB -EF
EREAKANREBEREBRRIER
BRz Mo REARAEZTHR
& AKREKBEAMNKRE - BITH
B BITHESKERREEER  AF
BMEBEBEARE -
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
debt instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade receivables, other receivables, short-
term deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
payables, other payables and secured bank loan.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z_RE=A=+—RHIFE
28.Financial Instruments 28. €@ T A
a. Categories of financial instruments a. E®IAEEHA
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-OFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKAY R S BEE 465,386 572,324
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBREATLEAEZ
TREE - 1,540
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFEFAHEMEER S
MEBTEA - 7,745
Financial liabilities SRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  #Z# KA IBEZ R B G 68,841 70,963

b. MERREZEEREE

AEBZTESRMTIABRERAY
Bt ARfEEBRESERTE -
BREBREAFEFEZERE
E - EWE SRR - Rl K
R EHER  |RITEHKRERE -
ENEZER - HiENERANRE
HIRRITER - ZE2RITAFE
REWERE - 2SR TAHEH
RiermmsRER(E¥AR - T
KmfpkEMERRR)  FER
BREREBE SRR o X R
EzERBIBER EEEEER
EL PR A B DA TR I B MG R
REGEE 216



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases and bank balances
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. In
addition, the Company has intra-group balances with
several subsidiaries denominated in foreign currency
which also expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the end of the reporting period are as follow:

ﬁ-? = ,\717']’%$ %%Bﬁ?

28. €Wt T B »)
b. HBERSEEERKEE)

i % B
EEmE
RRBVEEEM B R RIAIMNE T
BERRTER  EREAZINE
e L N VNS L 4 /N

ZBEFEINEES - hEREEER
SNESELER

REHAERA - AEB USSR
BrEREERERARZE@E
(I

} %

Liabilities Assets

=L BE
2025 2024 2025 2024
g 7§ 3 —EmE g S 3 —TmE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FAT
United States dollar (‘USD”) EIT 242 1,063 282,819 384,082
Renminbi (“RMB’) AR - - 625 11,522
HKS BT 73,823 46,297 412,948 432,290

Sensitivity analysis R E T

The Group is mainly exposed to exchange rate AREFBITERAIET BITEAR
fluctuations of USD, HK$ and RMB against the BELSEEERINGEES - BB
functional currency of respective group entities, Tk ARE ZEREEEKR - BR

which is either HK$ or RMB. As the HK$ is pegged
to USD, the management of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group’s exposure to USD relative to
HK$ is minimal and accordingly, no foreign currency
sensitivity analysis on USD is presented.

BITHEETTE c ARREEER
BAREBE TR B HEERE TR
K 2B AETIEINEREE
DT ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z-_RF=-A=+T—HILFE
28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. €@ T B »)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEERBREEEERBE(E)

policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) mEEE(E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) HRE ST (4E)
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity TRFVARAEBEHASEEE
to a 10% (2024: 10%) increase and decrease in B EEEXBEINEEE ET
functional currency of respective group entities HEN10%MBRE(ZZT Y 4F
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2024: 10%) °c 10%(ZZE =4 : 10%)
10%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting BRASEEEIE A BERINER
foreign currency risk internally to key management BT CBRE - WAEEELE
personnel and represent management’s assessment RO BEH 2 E - FRERED
of the reasonably possible change in foreign EBFEUINEAE Y HEFNE
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only BIEH » THRERFAREHRE10%
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary (ZZZPUF : 10%) LA IR HNEE &
items and adjusts their translation at the year end RZEE) o THEEKRRRADHE
for a 10% (2024: 10%) change in foreign currency B HASEEERINEEEE
rates. A positive number below indicates a decrease HEMAINEEF10% - WESEEE
in post-tax loss where the functional currencies of BT Bt B B W AB A NS SR an A
respective group entities weaken 10% against the MR 10%(ZZF Z—PUF : 10%)
foreign currencies. A 10% (2024: 10%) strengthening EeHWEREXREERERZE
of the functional currencies of respective group 2 o

entities against the relevant currencies, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the loss.

Impact of HK$ Impact of RMB
BAE ARWHE

2025 2024 2025 2024
—ECEE ZTZME —ECEE —TMmE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
TEx TET FEx FET
Loss for the year R E5i8 25,434 28,949 52 962
The above is mainly attributable to the exposure to Lt Bk G EEHIRTE Y A5
short-term deposits, outstanding receivables and HATE 2k - ek R K I A BE K O

payables at the year end. .

o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate short-term deposits,
debt instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at
FVTOCI.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate debt instruments at
FVTPL, secured bank loan (see Note 24 for details of
the loan) and bank balances.

Sensitivity analysis

Variable-rate debt instruments at FVTPL, bank
balances and secured bank loans are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow interest rate
risk arising from variable-rate is insignificant. The
management also considers the exposure of the
fair value interest rate risk of fixed-rate short-term
deposits, debt instruments at FVTPL and FVTOCI is
insignificant.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its
investments in unit-linked funds and other listed debt
instruments. The management considers these risks
are insignificant and therefore no sensitivity analysis
on such risks has been prepared. However, the
management will closely monitor such exposures and
consider hedging such exposures should the need
arise.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Trade receivables

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 March 2025 in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risk associated with its financial
assets.

BE_ZTZ_hAF=A=+—HILFE

28. €@ T A »)

b.

BEEBEEBRREE(E)

FAEmE ()
AEEGESEHEY - BBER
BATESEZ BB TARRAT
st A K2 E RS ES T AR
S AT @KL -

AEENEBERRAFEHED
FREBTAE  AEMBITER
(ERFBRWE24) RIRTTH

HBNTAZHERENERAR -
BRE DT
FBBREATER %&MFW

TH RITEHEBEREEARITER
WHERTEBRE D WZ%’.%$
REESERAZIFERERNRS
mEFXRERER) BEERENEE
IELRBER  BRABEREAT
BitE 2 EE T AREAFERA
HEfe2mlEmnES TEEX QT
EREHERERD -

E A B 18 7R
Kﬁllhé EhEREAEE RE
fib £ T &5 T i m B E A8 E R o
EEEERIHFRRY NHRE
At - LA FRRESRRED
7FJT AN EEEEENERLE
BAMER®EE E%fﬂﬁmw
)—”gmo

1= & B f2 & 5 B 77 15
JEY B 5 BR 5
h“%ﬁﬂf7fﬂi A=+—
E'?E ?EZ—J-/J- EEﬁEu/ui!’ﬁﬂq
EEZ%W'W$E@M%sz

mEERBARGE MBI AR
ﬁ&é?Z%ﬁﬁﬁ RNEEI &
REEMER R EMEELRE
EABMESREERBNEER
B o
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28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

28. €@ T A »)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMERBREEBEZERBEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EFFE(E)
(Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued) JEWE ZRRFK(E)

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade receivables and the Group has been largely

AEBTENEERRAEESE
R - NEBABMD 2 EB TR

dependent on a small number of customers for a ELENERF RZZZE-_AF=A
substantial portion of its business. The top three =+—B BRR=ZEEPHAMHEH
customers represent over 72% (2024: 64%) of the EWE ZRIBEBBT2%(ZF =N
trade receivables as at 31 March 2025. The failure ¢ : 64%) I EEF R

of these customers to make required payment could
have a substantial negative impact on the Group’s
profits and liquidity.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has credit approvals and other

 BHEENENIRBDESH
EKE’JEE@’ 0

R EERRRERE  AKEE
EECAGEEHREMBEZER

monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up Fr » DARE(R BRER BR 3 15 s Uk [o] 260 A
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this REZEE - M E - ARAE
regard, the directors of the Company consider that ERA/AEENERARRE KGR
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. (i

The Group performs impairment assessment under AEERBEERERARRSEZES
ECL model on trade receivables with significant B WBREARKE RIS AT R
balances and credit-impaired individually and/or RER  WEIBM SREELH
collectively which are grouped based on shared BRREEHLERARBENRIEKE

credit risk characteristics by reference to the Group’s
internal credit ratings and aging of outstanding
balances.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables
were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances and short-term deposits

The credit risk on bank balances and short term
deposits are limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks in Hong Kong or financial institutions
with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rate, the 12m ECL on bank balances and short-
term deposits are considered to be insignificant and
therefore no loss allowance was recognised.

Debt instruments at FVTOCI/

The Group only invests in debt securities with
low credit risk. The Group’s debt instruments at
FVTOCI mainly comprise listed bonds and notes
that are graded in the investment grade as per
globally understood definitions and therefore are
considered to be low credit risk investment. The ECL
on debt instruments at FVTOCI is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.

Other than concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables set out above, bank balances and short-
term deposits which are deposited with several
banks or financial institutions with high credit ratings,
the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.

HE—-Z

28. 2R T A

b.

—HE=A=+t—HItEE

(&)

BEEBEEBRREE(E)

FEm R EE G ()

RITAERR R AT RI A0
RITEREEREREFEZEER
REBARN  BARSZTT SEER
ERFRRETERESERTR
ZEEBEERITAMBHEE - &
FIERE - RITHESRRERTFR
W12 A RHEEBEBERTER
TEZ - FWRERBRER -

BN FEFGARMEH Kz &R
TIA
AEEEREEEERRNERE
7 o ARBEE A EFARMER
WaEmEHTATEREREZIR
ERERERENENLETES R
B AEBEKRAREERBRRKR
§ BAHES AR EE R H
B TANBEREEBREFER
TEZ - FRERBRER -

Lt EERRETNERE SR
7 SRITRBRERE TRITHE
EFARSNE RSB E TS
S AEEWEEFNEBENEE
SHhEE -

137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

ABEEFR

Low risk

(KRB

Normal risk

— R

Watch list

BRRE

Doubtful

ET:
X

Loss

BR

Write-off

s

Description

R

Reputable counterparty with low probability of

default, long and stable business relationship and

well established repayment pattern
=8 Eﬂ%*%%%%ﬁﬁ%%i%%%%%ﬂ
VEFE - BOBMXERE

The counterparty sometimes repays
after due dates but settle in full

RPUTFARE

The counterparty has lower default risk and usually

settle after due date

RHHUFHRORBBELEAT

HHBREN T2HEE

SRIMARER

There have been significant increases in credit

risk since initial recognition through information

developed internally or external resources

ERADHINBERHE)
BEEM

SEANERAR

BB

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-

impaired

BRERTAELBEERE

7J

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

BERERTEBARRBENBRERTSERR L

BEEBKEIFE
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28. 2RI T A

(&)

=

(=]

B &

b. HM¥EAREEEERER(E)

FEEBER B ETE(E)

REBHABEERRERTHE
EATER
Other
Trade receivables financial assets
FEW B 5 R HitemEE
Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
not credit-impaired
SHENEEESE 12BAEHEEER
—FEERE
Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
not credit-impaired
SHRHEEESE 12 AR HE EE#E
—FEERAE
Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
not credit-impaired
SHRNEESSE 12BAEHEEER
—FEERE
Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired

2HRSEREER
—FEERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

2 HEHEEER
—EERE

Amount is written off

mHe R

not credit-impaired

2HBRHEEBR
—FEERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

2 HEHEEER
—EERE

Amount is written off

mHe R
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28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

b.

~

i

SEPBHRESME

7

E_E_AF=A=1+—HIFE

28. €@ T A »)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL

assessment:

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

BOFEFARMZE
KENERTA

Investment of listed
debt instruments

RELMEBIA

Financial assets at
amortised cost

RBERASIR EHMEE

Trade receivables
EWRE 5 EH

Other receivables
A EUEH
Short-term deposits
RHEER

Bank balances
RITEH

Notes

Hiat

20

18

21(a)

21(b)

External
credit rating

MEBEEFR

A3 to Baa2

N/A

MER

N/A

A iEF
Aa3 to Baal

Aag3 to Baat

Internal
credit rating

REEERR

N/A

TER

Low risk
el
N/A
TERA
N/A
iR

Note: The Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances and credit-impaired, the Group determines
the ECL on a collective basis, grouped by internal
credit rating and past due status.

b. H¥BEAREEEERER(E)

FEmBER B ETE(E)

ReRAEAHOEEAR T
B A 4 1R 95 R 1 B A 9 5T

(N
Gross Gross
12m or carrying carrying
lifetime ECL amount amount
12[8A%2HEH
EEB#R AEEE BEEE
2025 2024
“B-RE T -MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
12m ECL - 7,745
2EARSEESSE
Lifetime ECL 91,669 91,461
(not credit-impaired)
2HEREEER
(FEERE)
12m ECL 917 2,067
PREARSHEESSE
12m ECL 225,897 304,696
128 AEEBEEER
12m ECL 146,356 178,296
1208 AREBEEBE
464,839 571,520

i AEERBEEMBEMELEANE
9SE (L AR 2R AT
HEHAEERAERENELRE
o FREAEXNRESRBERER
EERBENEBFAN - AEHE
IR AEE AR AMB AR S
A NSRS AERAEME
% a
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z_RAF=-A=+—RHLFE
28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. €W T B )
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEERBREEEERBE(E)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers
in relation to its operation. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed based on a

FEEBER B ETE(E)

ERAKEEER A”IEE’J #B
o AREEHATPETRELS
HENAEERE - Ti%?ﬂ

FREREFEREREERE
CGEEERE)RBEZE_FT_NFLK
—ET_RF=ZA=T—"BHEREE

collective basis as at 31 March 2024 and 2025 within AR ENEREREER R FEE
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). BER °
2025 2024

“E-RHE —E-_NE
Gross Gross
Average carrying Average carrying
Internal credit rating loss rates amount loss rates amount
AEBERFTR FHBRAER RHEAE  THBEEAX REEE
% HK$°000 % HK$'000
FET FHET
Grade 1: Low risk 54 EAR 0.1 66,450 0.11 73,774
Grade 2: Normal risk Ef LRER 2.05 25,218 2.10 17,682
Grade 3: Watch list S=m BRALE N/A - 6.01 5
Grade 4: Doubtful EMG : E 23. 86 1 N/A _
91,669 91,461
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on HETIBREREREEBAERS®

expected default rates over the expected life of the
debtors with reference to published information
from credit agencies and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
provided HK$590,000 (2024: HK$456,000)
impairment allowance for newly originated trade
receivables that are assessed collectively and
reversed HK$456,000 (2024: HK$298,000)
impairment allowance due to full settlement of trade
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & BI#& 3R EZ M=%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HEZZT_RAF=A=-1T—RHILFE
28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. £W T B »)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEERBREEEERBE(E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEREREBEFEE)
(Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime TRBRD AEE T EmE2EKE
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables SENMABEREEERES
under the simplified approach.
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
2HATEE
BEEEER
(EEERE)
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2023 N_E-_=F#=A=+—H” 2908
Changes due to financial instruments RZZEZ=FMA—HE®RZ
recognised as at 1 April 2028: TR TEEE)
— Impairment losses reversed — R EREEE (298)
New financial assets originated EENTemEE 456
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_MNFE=A=+—H 456
Changes due to financial instruments R-ZZ_MFMNA—-BE®RZ
recognised as at 1 April 2024: SR T EZE)
— Impairment losses reversed — B OB ERE (456)
New financial assets originated EXNFeREE 590
At 31 March 2025

RZZE-_RF=A=1+—H 590
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #ZR &S B &R E EMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_Z_RE=A=+—RHIFE
28. Financial Instruments (continueq) 28. €W T B )
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEERBREEEERBE(E)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables
are mainly due to:

New trade receivable with gross MENE SRR EREE

carrying amount of HK$91,669,000 £9,16689TE T

(2024: HK$91,461,000) (ZZ-MF : 9,14681 T T)
Reversal from settlement in full of BEEKE SRR THLEE

trade receivables with a gross BIRMEE A9, 14681 T8 T

carrying amount of HK$91,461,000 (ZTZUF : 7,32686THT)
(2024: HK$73,266,000)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings.
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2HRHGEEEREMORD)

(EEERME)
2025 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4R & BI#& 3R EZ M=%
For the year ended 31 March 2025 EE_RAF=-A=1+—HIFE

i

28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. €W T H )
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. HMEERBREEEERBE(E)

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEEREE(E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRFAVAEBIETESHMARZ
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial BTAHEEHE - hRIDIBEARE
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on BRI REREESRHEBEZRE
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities Bz ATRERCRERE - 1t
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be ZEEMNERACHERE - FIE
required to pay. The table includes both interest and MEAZEYME  FMmE - K
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows WIRELREIZEREHRE 2 AR5t
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived o

from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity tables TEELH
Carrying
Weighted Total amount at
average Less than 3 months 1102 2to5 undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 3 months to 1year years years  cash flows 2025
ZECIE
g AFRERE ZA=1-A

FaiE OW=@R ZEAE-§  -FECE CFEIf hERE ZEEE
% HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
FERL FER FERL FERL FER FER

2025 ZECRE
Financial liabilities at R &M R5|5% 2

amortised cost SHAR
Trade payables ERERER - 55,131 844 - - 55,975 55,975
Other payables Efb RN - 7,325 - - - 7,825 7,325
Secured bank loan-  FEARITER

variable rate -8 4.60 893 4376 419 - 5,688 5,541

63,349 5,220 419 - 68,988 68,841
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

REPBHRESME

BE_T-AF=A=t—AILFE

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)

2024

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Trade payables

QOther payables

Secured bank loan -
variable rate

Weighted
average
interest rate
il 4
e
%
“BoME
RERRARIRL
eRAE
ERE5EN =
Eft RN -
FERRAEH
-%8 5.33

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
bank loan are subject to change if changes in variable

28. €m T B
b. HKEREEBERBE(E)
mBELEE(E)
RBELX (&)

Carrying
Total amount at
Less than 3 months 1102 2105 undiscounted 31 March
3 months to 1 year years years cash flows 2024
“ECNE
ANRERE ZA=T-H
SR=ER ZERE-¥  -§Z2f  CEELF nERE ZEAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
53,032 576 - = 53,608 53,608
6,690 = - = 6,690 6,690
1,418 4149 5,295 419 11,281 10,665
61,140 4725 5,295 49 71,579 70,963
i) F BREZERNREAREE A

interest rates differ from those estimates of interest
rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-T—

AFE=ZA=+—BIL&FE

28. Financial Instruments (continued) 28. M T B »
c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments c. RBRATVENEZE®MIA

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets.

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the
fair value measurements are categorised (levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements is observable.

Fair value
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy
tREE AYE AFEER
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
R-B-Ef R-T-_NF
ZA=+-B Z=A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAT FHT
Listed debt securities Level 1
FEEES EF—1
- classified as debt instruments - 7,745
measured at FVTOCI
—PRARATEF AL MEEKS
WEBIA
- classified as financial assets at - 1,540
FVTPL
- PEREREREATENEL
cREE

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2
during both years.

R EREAEENAEE LB
BAENAFEZER -

(i) FEBHEHEERFEER
THERRBEEEMEER
QFETE
REREHR  ARELD
EMEEDNRAFEFE -
TREHNMUEE XSS/
BERAFENER IR
R ERM) - ARRRF
EfEBABEBENAEERER
B BAFEFESI/AF
BEERFIREEIR -

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
R R AREARE

Quoted bid prices in an active market
REBTSHREEE

EMFERE —REE —RIA
BAEBARED -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

28. Financial Instruments (continueq)

c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

(ii)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities, carried at amortised cost, are
determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models which is based on
discounted cash flows analysis using the
relevant prevailing market rates as input.

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of the financial assets
and financial liabilities recognised at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RA&=A=+—HIFE

29. Reconciliation Of Liabilities Arising 29.
From Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

Interest
payable
included in
other
payables
EAFE
(St AEAM
FE13 BRFX)
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=FMA—A =
Financing cash flows RERSN (697)
Dividend declared EEREKE -
Finance costs HHER 697

At 31 March 2024 and R-Z-_MF=A=+—-H
1 April 2024 R-E-mEmA—A -
Financing cash flows BERSR (434)
Dividend declared EEIRKE -
Finance costs NBER 434
At 31 March 2025 RZZ_RAF=A=+—H -

METHEE2EEHER

TRFVNAKEAME RS MELNE
EEY  BRASLIRCEY - BE
ABELNBBERZEFREREGLICK
KRERERAKEEZGARSRER
ROBERREBRDMBRER

Dividends
payable
included in
other Secured
payables bank loan Total
EMRE
(SR AR RER
P ERRR) RITER #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
- 15,789 15,789
(49,958) (5,124) (65,779)
49,958 - 49,958
= = 697
- 10,665 10,665
(56,619) (5,124) (62,177)
56,619 - 56,619
- - 434
- 5,541 5,541
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

30. Related Party Disclosures

Expense relating to short-term or low-value leases paid or
payable by the Group to its related parties are as follows:

Immediate holding company HEEZRAE
Allan Investment Company Limited R EABR A A
Fellow subsidiaries EEX =G
Fair Pacific Limited BEFRAF
Ardent Investment Limited HEIEEBR A A

Certain directors of the Company have controls in Allan
Investment Company Limited, Fair Pacific Limited and
Ardent Investment Limited.

The compensation of key management personnel consists
of directors’ remuneration as set out in Note 8.

The remuneration of directors of the Company is
recommended by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals, market trends and
conditions with a view to retain and motivate executives.
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BAEALTIRE

AEBEMNRENNEHNEEHEESR

BFEEEALTHT :
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EpUF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
900 900
984 984
1,558 1,558
ORI EEREmIREAR AR - 8
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

31.

32.

Operating Leasing Arrangements

The Group as lessor

All of the leased properties held by the Group for rental
purposes have committed leases for the next 1 to 3 years
(2024: 1 to 3 years). Property rental income earned during
the year was HK$16,652,000 (2024: HK$17,259,000).

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

Within one year —FA
In the second year FEF
In the third year E=F

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong participates in
both an ORSO Scheme and a MPF Scheme. The assets of
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
but in funds under the control of independent trustees.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by contributions from
employees of 5% of their salaries. The employers will
contribute based on the monthly salaries of employees
according to the following schedule:

Number of completed years of service

Not more than 5 years
More than 5 years but not more than 10 years
More than 10 years

BE_ZTZ_hAF=A=+—HILFE

CEHRERH

AEBEBERHEAA
EEBENMBEREMERBARLME K
BAR—E=ZFHLH(ZZZMF : —
=F)  c FRYPERS WA B1,66582F
BT (ZE N : 1,72589F L) °

31

EFNEERKNEENKMT

2025
—E-RF
HK$’000
FET

2024
T4
HK$°000
FHET

9,998
9,479
5,764

16,136
8,665
391

25,241 25,192

3B K48 R T &

FEMB AR EMIETEEMRRE
AT EI N RESTE - RFEE
ERAKEEESNFARKE  AHMEE
RMEREAMEGRZBYIESRTA -

32

2MRETTEZES - EARRA/A
BZ5% - BEBRBIATEFIRTES
REEB ftR 2 5

Rate of
contribution
{ \T}\—r—

52 A AR % 4 14

PRAF 5%
ZRAEFBERZR+F 7.5%
LN+ 10%
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B Z-_RAF%=A=+—HIFE

32. Retirement Benefits Schemes 32. BIKBERETE =)

(Continued)

The employees are entitled to the full benefit of the
subsidiaries’ contributions and accrued returns after
participating in the ORSO Scheme for 10 years or more, or
at an increased scale of 30% to 90% after participating in
the ORSO Scheme from 3 to 9 years respectively. Where
an employee leaves the employment prior to becoming
fully entitled to the employer’s contributions, the excess
contributions are forfeited and the employer may utilise the
forfeited contributions to reduce its future contributions.
As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, the Group had no
material unutilised forfeited contributions in the ORSO
Scheme which may be used to reduce the Group’s future
contributions.

The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged
18 to 65 and with at least 59 days of service under the
employment in Hong Kong. The Group contributes at the
lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs monthly to the MPF
Scheme, subject to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 per
month for each employee, which contribution is matched
by employees.

The employees of the subsidiaries operating in the PRC
are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The
contributions for the scheme in the PRC are made based
on a percentage of the average salary as advised by
the relevant authority in the PRC. The contributions are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
The subsidiaries operating in the PRC also contributed
to a local municipal government retirement scheme for
all qualified employees in the PRC. The employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at the rates specified in the rules.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement schemes in the PRC is to make the retired
contributions under the schemes. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

33. Particulars Of Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March
2025 and 2024, all of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries

SEPBHRESME

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

33.M B A B=F1E

R-E_AFER-_ZF_MOF=A=1+—
B RARABIZWEBLRR  2HMHR/ALQ

of the Company, are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital

WELATER EMRRL 54  ERORBRRARZMER

Allan Electric Mfg., Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares and 50,000 non-voting
deferred shares

SREXRERRAA BB 10088 % R &50,0000% & RRERIT

Allan International Limited *

Place of incorporation
or establishment

British Virgin Islands/

Alz2EMBR

Issued and fully paid share capital or

55,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 each

Hong Kong
ERRLER/ B 55,000R BREE1ET EBR
Allan Mould Manufacturing Hong Kong/the PRC 100 ordinary shares
Limited
ChIBYEARAA &/ 100/ X Bk
Allan Plastic Mfg., Limited Hong Kong 3,005 ordinary shares
EREBHARAA Bk 3,0051 & ik
Allan Trading (HK) Hong Kong 270,000 ordinary shares
Company Limited
BRER(FB)ERAA 3 270,000 & @&
DRIENE(EM)ERAH The PRC? Registered capital of USD49,600,000
hE + 1l & 49,600,000% 7T
EETZ(BR)ERLA The PRC* Registered capital of HK$75,000,000
" E & 475,000,000/ 7T

{3

A FBWT

Principal activities

IRER

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RELR

Manufacturing of plastic injection
moulds
EEBBIZEA

Property holding and trading of
household electrical appliances

RENFLHEFERR

Investment holding

REZR

Property holding and manufacturing
of household electrical appliances
and plastic parts

BENEREEZEERREBTH

Manufacturing of household electrical
appliances and plastic parts

TEREERREBEMN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

33. Particulars Of Subsidiaries (continued)

33. B A RIFE =

Place of incorporation
or establishment

Issued and fully paid share capital or

Name of subsidiaries operations registered capital Principal activities
WEARER EMRRL €54  ERORBRRAREMER TEXK
AITEDHEHREER AR The PRC? Registered capital of RMB55,000,000 Trading of household electrical
(2024: RMB45,000,000) appliances
Gk AMEARARE55,000,000L(ZS=mF:  HEREES
ARH45,000,0007)
Artreal Manufactory Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares Trading of household electrical
appliances
BEXIZERAR BB 2RE R BEREES
Conan Electric Manufacturing Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares Trading of household electrical
appliances
RREZHERRAA 3 2RE B HEXERS
Good Eagle Investment Limited (Note) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share Investment holding
EEREERAA (M) 3 TRERR REER
Great Yield Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share Trading of household electrical
appliances
RAERAT BB 1RERER HEREZR
EGnREBEREXERAA The PRC* Registered capital of HK$100,000,000 Manufacturing of household electrical
appliances and plastic parts
i &t ff&7100,000,000% 7T EERESEREBEMN
Karan Electric Manufacturing Limited  Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares Trading of household electrical
appliances
BREZHEARAA 3 100RE B HEXERS
New Prestige Investments Limited *  Hong Kong 1 ordinary share Property investment
3 TRERR BENZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025

33. Particulars Of Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

WEARER

Ngai Shing (Far East) Plastic &
Metalwares Factory Limited

EN(ER)EBLEHARAR

Progress Associates Limited *

Total Profits Limited

Place of incorporation
or establishment
operations

EMBRYL E xS

Hong Kong

&R

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
RBRABE /BB

British Virgin Islands/

SEPBHRESME

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

Issued and fully paid share capital or
registered capital
BRTRABRRASEMER

100 ordinary shares and 54,000 non-voting
deferred shares

1008k & @Mk 54, 000% ERZEEL R

1 ordinary share of USD1

IREEIXTZ ERBKR

2 ordinary shares of USD1 each

33. B A RIFE =)

Principal activities

IRRE

Property holding

RENE

Investment in securities

ERRE

Investment holding

Hong Kong

ERRAER/ BB REEIZTL EBR EHRE
Well Sincere Investment Limited * Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares Investment holding
BARABRAR i3 ARERM EHRE
* Direct subsidiaries = BEEHBAR
# Wholly foreign-owned enterprises established in the PRC # 2EINEBELE
Note: The subsidiary was deregistered on 4 October 2024. s ZF AR _mWE+ A AT

FEf

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

% o

REL - BRI ERTEAERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

34. Statement Of Financial Position

BE

And Reserves Of The Company

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Deferred tax asset
Club debenture

CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables
Short-term deposits
Bank balances and cash

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals
Amounts due to subsidiaries

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

FRBEE
UEI G

L= PNEIE 2

& Y5 Fff /B8 xR 3R IR
ERETRIAEE
SfES

RBEE
H A FEU AR R
SRR
RITHEBRERE

hEBAE
H & AR R R RN R A
FE < BT /B8 X B3R IR

BRBEE

BEEFE

BXRREE

AR
[

—E-_RE=A=+—HItEE

34. & 1 B B B AR R Rk I e

2025 2024
—E-RE —EpUFE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
437 483
75,319 75,319
192,518 132,480
271 324
10,030 10,030
278,575 218,636
2,098 3,141
73,536 175,278
3,094 14,678
78,728 193,097
4,921 4,424
1,730 5,884
6,651 10,308
72,077 182,789
350,652 401,425
33,305 33,305
317,347 368,120
350,652 401,425



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2025

34. Statement Of Financial Position

REUBRES

B &E

BE_FT-AF=A=t-ALFE

And Reserves Of The Company

(Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

At 1 April 2023
Profit and total comprehensive income for

the year
Dividends recognised as distribution

At 31 March 2024
Profit and total comprehensive income

for the year
Dividends recognised as distribution

At 31 March 2025

R-B-=€£=f=1-H

AERERREARGLE

BEREDRLRE

R-B-ME=A=1-H

AEREFREARGLE

BEREDRLBE

R-ZE-h%=A=+-H

4. XX B MBI R KK B

(%)
REREERE
Capital Capital
Share  redemption  contributed Retained
premium reserve surplus profits Total
R& R&
RiaE Bl BB REER L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A AT TET TR TR
105,956 793 28,230 273,346 408,325
- - - 9,753 9,753
- - - (49,958) (49,958)
105,956 793 28,230 233,141 368,120
- - - 5,846 5,846
- - - (56,619) (56,619)
105,956 793 28,230 182,368 317,347
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Financial Summary

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities ~ T & #&4%

of the Group for the five years ended 31 March 2025.

Revenue

(Loss) profit before tax
Taxation

(Loss) profit for the year

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

EXE

B AT (&5 18 ) i A1
BB

RERE (BB &N

At
&

o

e
S
o

/

BEFE

MBME

For the year ended 31 March
BE-A=t-RALFE

TASEBE-T-RE= A=+
B EEEREE  AERAMR

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RE —E-oNE —T-=Ff —E-_-_%F —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT FHET FET FET
465,170 484,763 413,332 783,192 909,466
(94,179) (72,123) (60,705) (21,344) 54,541
(1,957) 2,992 (1,348) (5,651) (8,139)
(96,136) (69,131) (62,053) (26,995) 46,402
At 31 March
R=A=+-—H

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-Rf —Tomg —T-=§F T —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
937,607 1,092,361 1,248,881 1,412,550 1,583,924
220,277 221,354 241,542 310,003 378,930
717,330 871,007 1,007,339 1,102,547 1,204,994
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